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Yuzo Takai
204 Kubo Cho, Onomichi chi
Hiroshima Ken, Japan

Mr Wayne M Collins
2 September 1954

Attorney At Law
San Francisco, Calif,

U,S.A.
Dear lr Collins,

I want to thank you very much for your great
and constant efforts extended to the mass suits.

Delay in submission, and inconvenience caused

is regretted,

Sincerely yours,




WAYNE M, COLLINS
Mills Tower
220 Bush Street
8an Francisco 4, California

Mareh 20, 1957

Mr., Yuzo Takail

204 Kubo Cho, Onomichi Shi
Hircoshima Ken, Japan

Dear Mr. Takai:s

As the Justice Department has liberalized
its administrasive remedy the affidavit you
heretofore sent to me is being processed.

As soon as the Justice Department advises

me of its decision in your case I shall write
and let you know,

Very truly yours,
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WAYNE M, COLLINS

Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California
Telephone GArfield 1-5827

May 8, 1957

Mr. Yuzo Takail

204 Kubo Cho

Onomichi Shi, Hiroshima - Ken
Japan

Dear wn. Takai:

On , the Department of Justice rejected
your affiﬁﬁ$§f§?a¥@5ﬁenied your administrative clearance be-
cause it reached a conclusion that your renunciation of U.S,
citizenship was not caused by fear, coercion or duress. It
states that the reasons for its refusal to give you adminis-
trative clearance are as follows:

"Phis subject was born May 1, 1919, in the Untted States and
resided in Japan from 1922 to 1938. He received all of his educa-

tion in Japan. The pertinent records of the War Relocation Authori-
ty reflect that he gave a negative answer to Questions 27 and 28 of
the Army~WRA repatriation form, He applied for repatriation on
June 1, 1943, January 23, 1945 and again on September 27, 1945,
after the cessation of hostilities. In the latter application he
states that his loyalty has always been to Japan and that he has no
intention of changing it in the future. He was a member of Dboth
the Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan and the Hokoku Seinen Dan, was among
the first to apply for renunciation and among the first group to
renounce c¢itizenship at the Tule Lake Center. During an interview
with an officer of the Immigration and Naturalization Service, on
April 20, 1945, he said he "expatriated voluntarily because he
wanted to return to Japan," He now attributes his renunciation

to duress and coercion.”




-5

As soon as the processing of the affidavits of other
renunciants in the cases has been completed your individual case
can be scheduled for an individual court trial in the U.S. Dis-
trict Court in San Francisco and, if you consent to have such
a trial, a statement from the Clerk of the Court showing the
approximate time of your trial will be sent to you to present
to the U,S. Consul in Japan to enable you to return o the U,S.
on a "Certificate of Identity" for your trial,

Therefore, please wait patiently until you receive the next
letter from me.

Very truly yours,

P.S., If your wife (or husband) or your father (or mother)
is or becomes a U,S, citizen (or is a renunciant whose U.S.
citizenship has been or becomes restored or who obtains a U.S.
passport) your citizen wife (or husband) or citizen father
(or mother) can make an application to a U,S. Consul in Japan
or to the U.,S., Immigration Service in the U,S, to allow you to
enter the U,S. for permanent residence purposes as an alien on
a "nonquota immigrant visa". If you obtain such a "nonquota
immigrant visa" and return to the U.S. as an alien for permanent
residence purposes you would, in due course of time, become
eligible for naturalization as a U,S. citizen. If such a visa
is to issue to you from a U,S, Consul in Japan it is likely the
Consul will inform you that you must withdraw from the mass
class equity suits before it is delivered to you and ask you to
obtain a copy of a dismissal order from me before the "nonquota
immigration visa'"will be delivered to you.
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TAB-ARXEAALCE SR>

. AKUNE

HONDA
IKEDA
KAKU
KATAOKA
KIMURA
KIYOHIRO
KONO
KOSUGI

OKITA

B ATaUORA: MIchigan 4728
MORISHIGE
NAKAMURA
NARIMATSY May 4, 1958

. OBATAKE

COMMITTEE
M. SBASAKI

HAYASHIDA Y. SHIBATA
1. SHIMIZU

TULE LAKE DEFENSE COMMITTEE T, SHONG

. TAKAHASHI
. YEGO
. TAKETAYA

Room 215, 124 South San Pedro Street

K
]
H
Los Angeles 12, California I AvOTR
g
B
M

. TBUETAKE

. UCHIDA

. WATANABE

. YAMAICHI
T. YAMAMOTO

Mr., Wayne M. Collins
Attorney at Law

1300 Mills Tower

220 Bush Street

San Francisco 4, Calif.

Re: Yuzo Takai=--Japan

Dear Mr, Collins:

Enclosed please find an air letter from the above named
renunciant.

Mr, Takal states he has not received a new affidavit from
your office. I note in my record that he was processed on March
27, 1957 and rejected on May, 1957. Subsequent to this date on
June 20, 1957 I obtained another questionnaire from him at
Hiroshima-shi, Japan.

I shall thank you to examine his file, and ascertain whether
his case may be reprocessed with a new affidavit.
Very truly yours,

TULE LAKE DEFENSE COMMITTEE




Mr. Yuzo Takal

204 Kubo-cho
Onomichi-shi
Hiroshima-Ken, Japan

P84T wr. Takai:

Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit,
the original of which was sent air mail, You

should keep this copy for future reference,

Very truly yours,




Mr. Yuzo Takai

204 Kubo-cho
Onomich-shi
Hiroshima-Ken, Japan

I am returning herewlth via alr mail the original
of the afflidavit which I have prepsared for you from your
answers to my questionnalire. I would thank you to read
the answers therein and 1f you find them toc be true,
you should take the original to a U, S. Consul in Japan
and there sign and swear to it, Thereupon you should
return 1t to me promptly by air mall for processing to
the Justice Departaent,

A copy for you to keep for future reference is
being sent via regule né

If you should make any additions or corrections
in the affidavit, please inforn me of the changes in a
letter enclosing the affidavit,

Very truly yours,




Yuzo Takai

1167, Takeura,
Fanakoshi-cho, Aki-gun,
Hiroshima-ken, Japan,

May 29, 1958,
Mr, W.M. Collins
San Francisco
Californis

Dear Sir:

In compliance with your letter of May 17, 1958, I am so glad returning
herewith via air mail the completed affidavit signed by U.S. Consul in Kobe
and myself for your further processing, It is strongly hoped that this
affidavit will meet the most faworable considerations by the U,S, authorities
a3 1 am very eager to get clearance and wish to go back to the States at an
earliest possible date.

_ It seems not so important though there is one correction in the item
#5, Formal education in Japan, of the affidavit, as I attended the Onomichi
_Business Commercial School for 3 (three) years from April 1932 to March
1935.~ If you think it worth correcting, please do 3o, otherwise leave as

(L RI% 1,

I would like to take this opportunity to fill my report for change of
&fldress as follows;

Previous Address:- 204, Kubo-cho, Onomichi-shi, Hiroshima-ken, Japan,

New Address := 1167, Takeura, Funakoshi-cho, Aki-gun, A
Hiroshima~ken, Japan, / Qo
Vi T 8P

(this was already reported to Mr. Nekemura, of Los Angeles,
in April this year).
Please accept my humble sppreciation for all you have been doing for
us for such a long periods,

Sincerely yours,

/wjo'/%
o




WAYNE M. COLLING
AtCorney at Law

Eiils Tower, 220 Bush 3treet

Seén Franciseo 4, California

Telephone: GArfield 1-5327

June 17, 1958

Mr., Yuzo Takai

1167, Takeura, Funakoshi-cho
Aki Gun, Hliroshima Ken
Japan

Dear Mr. Takal:

the Arfidavit forss you recently sent o me have been
exanined and compéared with the records in my office. The
foras appedr to =¢ to be in good order. In consequence, I
have delivered thea to the U.3. Attorney's office for pro-
sessing through the Justice Departaent,

As soon as the Justice lepartuent ilaforss ne of its
decision I shall let you know, Because of the falrly large
nuaber of arfidavits of other renunclants 3lso being processed
it prebably will take severdal months before a final decision
in your caae is wmade by the Justice Departaent,

Therefore, I suggest that you walt patiently for werd
from the Justice Department which I shall relsy to you Just
as soon as 1 reoelve information as to what decision it
pakes in your case.

If the Justice Departsent clears you by this adminisg-
Prative method I shall send you & gopy of the letter 1t
transaits to the State Department s that you can file the
eopy of that letter with the U.85, Consul 4% the time you
nake an application o him for a U.8. passport, I the
pagsport then lasues you will be able Lo return to the
United States as &4 U,3. clitisen.

if the Justice Departsent does not clesr you for pasgs-
pOrt purposes you, nevertheless, then can apply o & U.8.
Consul in Japsn for & "Certillicate of ldentity” and I will
set your Crial for hearing in court and send Lo you or to
the Consul & stateaent from Che Clerk of the Court showing
that your Individual hearing will be held within six months,
You then can return Co the U.5. on that sertificate for
your trial.

Very truly yours,

(VIA AIRLETTER)




WASHINGTON, D. C.

Address Reply to the
Division Indicated
and Refer to Initials and Number

GSLsXC
146-54 - 56
93-1-1320

Lloyd H. Burke, Esquire
United States Attorney

422 Post Office Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Re: JXuso Takal Hegers et al,
Your ref: Abo et al vmmw
: NABFOVASLINEY @I (Consolidated
actions - Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation
of Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(1).

Deaxr Mr. Burke:

This is in response to your letter of Jumns 25, 1938,

encloaing an affidavit for a determination as to whether the case
of the above-named renunciant may be considered as coming within the
coverage of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson
v. Murakami, 176 F. 24 953, in accordsnce with a letter from this
Department dated September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

In accordance with your request, we have ¥@examined the affidavit,
together with the pertinent Governmental files, and you are advised that
ve adhere to our views as expressed in our letter of May 2, 1957,
that this subject's cage may not be considered as coming within the
coverage of the decision in the Murakami case.

In accordance with our letter of September 21, 1953, we attach the
original and three copies of this subject's affidavit for return to
Mr. Collins.

Yours very truly,

GEO, 8. LEORARD
Acting Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

By:
Enoch E. Ellison
Chief, Japenese Claims Section

Enclosures: 3
Original and
copies of affidavit.




WAYNE M, COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

August 29, 1958
Mr, Yuzo Takal

1167, Takeura, Funakoshi-cho (VIA AIRLETTER)
Aki-gun;, Hiroshima-ken, Japan

Dear Mr., Takai:

On July 24, 1958, the Department of Justice rejected your
affidavits and denied you administrative clearance because it
reached a conclusion that your renunciation of U.S. citizenship
was not caused by fear, coercion or duress., It states that the
reasons for its refusal to give you administrative clearance are
as follows;:

" ...we have reexamined the affidavit, together with the
pertinent Governmental flles, and you are advised that we adhere
to our views as expressed in our letter of May 2, 1957. ..."

I believe that by preparing a new affidavit going into more
detaills that you yet may recelve administrative clearance. There-
fore I would thank you to answer the following questions fully
and to the best of your abllity and return it to me promptly by
airmail.

What were your reasons for replying in the negative to Ques-
tions 27 and 28 of the Army~WRA Registration Form?

What were your reasons for applying for repatriation to
Japan.on June 1, 19437

What were your reasons for applying for repatriation to
Japan on January 23, 19457

What were your reasons for applying for repatristion to
Japan on September 27, 1945, after the end of the war?

Please glve your reasons for stating in your application of
September 27, 1945, that your loyalty had always been with
Japan and that you had no intention of changing it in the
future?

What were your reasons for becoming a member of the Sokuji
Kikoku Hoshli Dan? Why did you not resign?

What were your reasons for becoming a member of the Hokoku
Seinen Dan? Why did you not resign?

When did you apply for forms upon which to renounce
citizenship?

When did you actually renocunce?
What were your reasons for being one of the first to apply

for renunciation and among the first group to renounce
citizenship at Tule Lake?

Why, in an interview with an Immigration and Naturalization
Service officer on April 20, 1945, did you state that you
"expatriated voluntarily" because you wanted to return to
Japan?

(over)




Please do not hesitate to give full, true and correct answers
and to mention names. The giving of names will assist me an
will not do any harm either to you or the persons you name.

; you send me full answers and explanations to the
above questions, I will prepare an amplified affidavit which may
enable you to obtain adminis

(=}
trative clearance.

Very truly yours,




Cfi il Vs
e <l X AKX (YFE

Yuzo Takai
1167 Takeura,
Mr. Wayne M. Collins Funakoshi~chio,
San Francisco 4, Calif. Aki-gun, Hirishima-Hen
Japan /
6 September 1958
Dear Mr, Collins:

I want to thank you very much for your letter of Aug 29, '58,
requesting additonal explanations regarding my affidavit in order
to enable me to obtain administrative clearance, Your thoughtful
and continueous efforts and kind assistance that have been made to
usg are deeply gratitude by all.

Answers and explanations to your questions are as follows:

For question #1l:

An executive officers of Gila Youngmen and Womens' Association
(GILA DANJO SEINEN DAN), such as Mr. Yamashiro, Maruyama, Kaya,
Nakano, Chogyoji and others, often came to my residence in Gila
and ‘persuade me that all of KIBEI must give negative answers to
Army-WRA Questionnaire, otherwise, my name would go on the black-

' 1ist which was prepared by the SEINEN DAN and to be handed over a
certain Jap diplomat who was waiting for an exchange ship in the
same Center, They threaten me that if my name goes to Jap Govt it
would be an object of severe punishment by Jap Govt for not only
myself but also a whole members of my family in Japan, including a
close relative of mine, They also threaten me with saying that the
WRA officials revealed the fact that those who ansered in positive
to the Questionnaire woudd forcibly be relocated and drafted in the
US Army where a hostility and insecurity were existed, I was so
feared about coercive relocation because I had enough experience of
hostility showed by the outside people while I was in Calif. until
the time of our evacuation. I also feared for punishment, becaused
of my activity in the Center, by the Jap Govt aginst my parants,
brother and sisters in Japan. These SEINEN DAN officials took every
measures, by force into compliance or persuasion, in order to lead
all KIBEI to give negative answers to the Questionnaire.

For question #2:

As I explained in my answer to your question #l above, an influ-

ential members of the Gila SEINEN DAN again threaten me to apply
for repatriation. They said to me that the repatriation is the
inseparable matter for those who gave the negative answers to the
Questionnaire, If one who replied in the negative to Questionnaire

and fail to apply for repatriation, he would be an object of punishment

for more than 30 years inprisonment by the US Govt because he is
regarded as a man evading military service,




They told me that this was the opinion of WRA higher officials
;| and lawyers. They strongly emphasized that the names who fail to
:Kﬁ apply to repatriation would go on a black-list and to be notified to
/| Jap Govt same as the one who gave a positive answers to the Questi-
| onnaire,
g
I For question #3:-

My room-mate, Mr Yoshinaga, Shimazaki, Kawamoto were a powerful
members of the HOKOKU SEINEN DAN in Tule lake and they often asked
me if I had already applied for repatriation., I told them that I 'd
done while I, was in Gila but they won't believed it. Later, Mr.Akashi,
Bingo, Obatd; Hamamoto, Inoue, Hinoki, Uchida and Yukawa were perti-
nacouslyasked me why I have not apply for repatriation. They said if
I did not do so, something tradegy might happended on me and my family
in Japan. They always told me that every one in the Tule must follows
the SEINEN DAN's policies such as to apply for repatriation, renounce
of citizenship, to join the DAN and all other activities that designatd
by the DAN, otherwise, to be puhished or thrown out of the Center.

For question #h4:~-

Yet I could not escaped from those feroious watching eyes of
| the members, of the » Those powerful officers of the DAN, Mr Yoshi-
naga, Inoue, Uchida, Hinoki, Kiso, Obata, Hamamoto, Saika, Hashimoto,
' and others kept their eyes on me all the time because I was suspedted
~ | as 'INU' while I was assigned to Blcck Managzer. Since I had received
| & letter from Attorney General in about May 1945 pertaining to my
! renounciation of US citizenship, I had to realized that my citizen-
{ ship has lost, and this was enough for me to abandon myself to despair,
and I did not know that I should do after the end of the war.
These agitators around me ape still threaten me with saying that if I
| changed my mind and cancelled my repatriation I would be beaten up.
I also feared if the US Govt would take some action on me because I
| had once already expressed my intention as disloyal to the US,
Moreover, these prople said to me that upon their return to Japan they
woudl call on my parents, both were in pretty well of age, and do
. something on them as a punishiment for myself., I lost all my sense and
became desperate, and I had to follow that those people said to me or
| ordered to me, It was great petty, if I had more courages to do things
| with my own will or intention, things had not been worse like it,

! For question #5:-

I do not remembered what I stated in my application of Sep 1945,
however, I myself of those days was just like a puppet, vapid doll
that pulled the strings from the behind. Those agitators as I mentioned
in my answer to your guestion #4 above, gave me every instructions
when I go to an interview or to fill some applications, I knew a quite
few people were beaten up when they would not followed their instructio

There were 2 or 3 person went into mad at Santa Fe because they could
not express their own intention as long as these agitators were in

the same camp. All of us were told by the DAN's leaders as to what
answers should given to the US officials or what should rote down in




any applications,

| For question #6:=

I do not rememberedé which was organized first, SOKUJI KIKOKU
HOSHI DAN or HOKOKU SEINEN DAN, however, I had no interesting in both.
I was lived in Ward #7, known as the most active branch of the DAN,
as many active members were lived, namely, Akashi, Bingo, Yukawa, Obata,
Okada, Hasegawa, all were Issei, and Yoshinaga, Inoue, Hamamoto,
Nakamura, Shimazaki, Kawamoto, all were Kibei. Yoshinaga, Chief of the
Ward 7 branch and my room-mate, forcibly put my name in the DAN.

He said it is common sense that everyone inithe Center must join the
DAN.If there is anyone who against the DAN's policy he would received
severe punishment not only for himself but also for his family in
Japan,He also said he would take action on the people who do not want
to join the DAN, by the name of the DAN and Jap Govt.

I tried to resign with an excuse such as physical reason or my
mission as a block manager, but it was not accepted. Since that time
I ought to knoew that I was suspected as 'white Jap' and I was placed
under their special watch, One day, Mr Akashi, Obata, Inoue and Yukawa
came to my office and told me that I was in the category of 'Dangerou
Character! of the black-list. They warned me to resign from block
maneger's position, otherwise, there is much possibility of attaching
by young members of the DAN, They persuaded me to take part of the
DAN's activities. I did not resigned Block manager until the last day,
so these people often came to my office and watched my movements.

. I heard that some of them opened personal mail at my office while I
| was absent from there. They deprived me of all my freedom, and I
was threaten with them all the time,

For question #7:-

Plese see my answer to your gquestion #6 above, as the circum-—
stances were same as above all the time,

— For question #83-

I .do not remembered exactory when it was but it was possibly
be around May or June 1944, Every necessary formalities was prepared
\ by Akashi, Obata, Yoshinaga, Inoue, Hamamoto and others, it was not
by individuals, I was forcibly asked sign for it.

For question #9:-

On or about May 1945 (I hed received letter from Attorney
General)




For question #10:-

, Please see my answer to your question #8 above.
Repatriation and renounciation proceedings were prepared by Mr.
Akashi, Obata, Yoshinaga, Inoue, Hamamoto,

my own intention., I was not
a M"Gangerous Character! ' and under their watch.

and others; regardless of
allowed to. say a word because I was in

g S 8

see my answer to your gquestion j#5.
be ‘answered like
I ‘could not maintained

my  family in Japan,




Mr. Yuzo Takai

1167 Takeura, Funakoshi-cho
Aki-gun, Hiroshima-ken
Japan

Uear Mr. Takai:
Enclosed find your copy of the Affidavit, the

: : - £ st i e . s o 2 o | VS ahmyl A Yoan
original of which was sent air mail. You should keep

1. 2 2l W £ 2 355 % v oo B o vyv e v o o
this copy for future reference.

very truly yours,




0CT 7 1958

Mr. Yuzo Takai
1167 Takeura, Funakoshi-cho
Aki-gun, Hiroshima-ken
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Yuzo Takai

1167, Tekeura, Funakoshi Cho
Mr. Wayne M. Collins Aki Gun, Hiroshima Ken,
San Francisco 4, Calif. Japan.
U. S. A.

October 17, 1958

Dear Mr. Collins:

I am returning herewith via air mail the original of the affidavit
which I have received from you on 13 Octobar 1958 and I have sworn to it
before the U.S. Consul in Kobe, Japan, for your necessary actions.

There are some corrections in my affidavit, as follows;

a. For Item 10 (4), page 4.

"I believed everyone in interment camp was deportable and it was
better to go to Japan in voluntary wey because of how it would
appear on record when we arrived in Japan. This way I would not
be teking risks being regarded suspiciously upon arrival

TO READ { Y

<
LA ¥

"I beiieved everyone in interment camp was deportable and\it was
better to go to Japan in voluntary way becauce of how it| would

appear on record in the U.S. Immigration (ffice as I believed a %f
word of "Deportation® would means the worst record for any immigrant.s

This way I would not taking risks being regarded as deportee by
the U.S. Government."

b. For Item 10 (B), page 4.
ADDED

Hgs, U.S. Army Garrison, Camp Kure; 1957 to date. { TJE{£9{~

If you think the above are worth corrections, please do so, otherwise,
Just leave the items as they are now.

I wish to express my deep gratitudes for verything you have done for ne,
and I do hope that the affidavit enclosing herewith is to meet the most favorable

considerations by the U.S. Government and to obtain administrative clearance
as soon as possible.

Sincerely yours,

o s




WAYRE M, COLLINS
Attorney at lLaw
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
dan Franeisco 4, California

October 23, 1958
{\VIA AIRLET

Mr. Yuzo Takai

1167, Takeura, Funakoshi-cho
Aki-gun, Hiroshima-ken

Japan

Dear Mr. Takai:

The Affidavit forms you recently sent to me have been
examined and compared with the recortds in my office. The forms
appear to me to be in good order. In consequence, I have de-
livered them to the U,S. Attorney's office for processing
through the Justice Department.

As soon as the Justice Department informs me of its decision
1 shall let you know. Because of the fairly large number of
affidavits of other renunciants alsoc being processed it probably
will take several months before a final decision in your case is
made by the Justice Department.

Therefore, I suggest that you wait patiently for word from
the Justice Department which I shall relay to you just as soon
as 1 receive information as to what decision it makes in your
CaBG,

If the Justice lDepartment clears you by this administrative
methed I shall send you a copy of the letter it transmits to the
otate Department so that you can file the copy of that letter
with the U.S. Consul at the time you make an application to him
for a U,i, passport. If the passport then issues you will be
able to return to the United States as & U.5. citiszen.,

if the Justice Department does not clear you for passport
purposes you, nevertheless, then can apply to a U.S. Consul in
Japan for & "Certificate of ldentity" and I will set your trial
for hearing in court and send to you or to the Consul a& state-
ment from the Clerk of the Court showing that yow individual
hearing will be held within six months. You then can return to
the U.5. on that certificate for your trial.

Very truly yours,

it
WrL1I8s
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WAYNE M. COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower
220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

March 11, 1959

Mr. Yuzo Takai

1167, Takeura, Funakoshi-cho
Aki-Gun

Hiroshima Ken, Japan

Dear Mr. Takai:

You have been successful in the administrative remedy
pursued 1n your case. The Justice Department has reache
the conclusion that you personally renounced citizenship
because of fear, coercion and duress. Therefore, it is
willing to withdraw the offer of proof it made against you
in the mass class equity suits whereupon a judgment can be
entered in your favor in the U.S. District Court cancelling

your renunciation on the ground of duress and declaring you
to be a citizen of the United States.

-5
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I am enclosing a copy of the transmittal letter of the
Justice Department (Attorney General) which was sent to the
Department of State (Passport Office.) You should take the
enclosed copy of the transmittal letter promptly to the
United States Consul in Japan nearest you ang tEere appl
for a U.S. passport if you have not already done SO. h
U.S. Consul wiIE issue a U.S. Passport to you which will

on its face that you are a citizen of the United States.

When you receive the U.S. passport from the U.S. Consul
you can make your own arrangements to return to the United
States. You should write and let me know your U.S. address
and the time you expect to return to the United States.

If you have a spouse (wife or husband) who is an alien
such person can enter the United States as a ''monquota immi-
grant' because you are a U.S. citizen. An application can
be made to the nearest U.S. Consul in Japan for a nonquota
immigrant visa for such spouse.

1f your spouse (wife or husband) is a renunciant who
does not recover U.S. citizenship administratively through
the Justice Department or by court trial, or does not wish




further to try to recover U.S. citizenship, such a spouse,
nevertheless. can elect to be an alien and can obtain a non-

uota immigrant visa from the nearest U.S. COI‘ISUI and can
return to the ch. because he or she 1s the spouse of a U.S.

citizen.

If your spouse is an alien or a renunciant who does not
recover citizenship but becomes an alien who returns to the
United States as a nonquota immigrant he or she here in course
o{ Eime becomes eligible to apply for naturalization as a U.S.
citizen.

It is my conclusion that in due course of time Congress
will enact a new law authorizing the return of property or
its approximate value to aliens whose property was seized and
confiscated during the war under the provisions of the Trading
with the Enemy Act.

1f you intend to remain in Japan for a while you must
be careful not to commit any act whereby you might lose U.S.
citizenship. You were informed by me in previous letters of
various acts of expatriation whereby a U.S. citizenship can
be lost.

If you have dual citizenship you can denounce (renounce)
Japanese nationality. This can be done by signing a renuncia-
tion form before a Japanese consular officer in the U.S. or
before an authorized Japanese Government office in Japan.

Very truly yours,

é%%fﬁ%@




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

WASHINGTON, D. C. Pk

Address Reply to the ?m t’?g w

Division Indicated
and Refer to Initials and Number

e e Ty JAN 3521859
146-54+
93-1-1

Department of State
Matomic Building
Washington 25, D. C.

Attention: Miss Frances Knight
: Director, Passport Office

Dear Sirs:

Pursuant to an agreement entered into with Mr. Wayne M. Collins,
Attorney, to stipulate to the introduction of satisfactory affidavits
submitted by plaintiffs in the case of McGrath v. Abo, 186 F. 2d, 766,
as set forth in the Department's letter of September 22, 1953, to the
Department of State, we attach affidavit of the above-named renunciant,
together with copy of our letter to the United States Attorney for the
Northern District of California, in which we express the opinion that
this subject's case may be considered as coming within the coverage of
the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the Murakami case.

A copy of this letter is being forwarded to Mr. Collins, and in
accordance with the above agreement, may be presented by the above-named
subject in lieu of the usual supplemental affidavit required of renunciant
applicants for documentation as American citizens.

Yours very truly,

Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

By:
Enoch E. Ellison
Chief, Japanese Claims Section
Enclosures:
Copy of affidavit
Copy of letter to
United States Attorney
Northern District of California.




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

WASHINGTON, D. C. &

ol g —demery 195 1959

Division Indicated
and Refer to Initials and Number

B JAN 30 1358
93-1-1326

Robert H. Schnacke, Esquire
United States Attorney

L22 Post Office Building
Seventh and Mission Streets
San Francisco 1, California

Re: Iuzo Taked
Your ref: Abo et al v. Rogers et al, Furuya
et al v. Rogers et al. (Consolidated actions -
Civil Nos. 25294 & 25295). Renunciation of
Citizenship, Former Title 8 U.S.C. 801(1).

Deaxr Mr. Schnacke:

This is in response to your letter of P
affidavit for a determination a8't6*¥hethes the clse®sPithe
e~pamed' renunciant may be considered as coming within the coverage
of the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the case of Acheson v. Murakami,
176 F. 24 953, in accordence with a letter from this Department dated
September 21, 1953, to Mr. Wayne M. Collins.

p——

We have examined the affidavit, together with pertinent Governmental
files and are of the opinion that the case of the subject affiant may be
considered as coming within the ruling of the Court of Appeals in the
above case.

We have informed the Department of State of our present view by
letter, three copies of which are enclosed herewith. If you disagree
with our action please so advise us promptly in order that we may
recall our clearance from the Department of State before action is
taken thereon. If you do not disagree, please forward two of the copies
to Mr. Collins, and enter into the arrangements necessary to dispose of
the case in accordance with the procedure outlined in the above-mentioned
letter of September 21, 1953, as modified by this Department's letter to
you dated June 9, 1955. We shall appreciate your forwarding to this
office a copy of the stipulation and Judgment when record entry of the
same has been accomplished.




The original and one copy of the subject's affidavit are returned
to you herewith.

Yours very truly,

Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division

By:

Enoch E. Ellison
Chief, Japanese Claims Section

Enclosgures:

Original and copy
of affidavit

Three copies of letter
to Department of State.
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WAYNE M. COLLINS
Attorney at Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
San Francisco 4, California

GArfield 1-5827

Mrs. Toshliye Dol
3834 West Lexington St.
Chicago, Illinols

Dear Mrs. Doil:

I would thank you to let me know the present address
of Mr, Yuzo Takal
so that final papers concerning his citizenship status
may be transmitted to him. Please use the enclosed card

and self-addressed envelope for your reply to me.

Very t)./uly yours,

Won (o




WAYNE M., COLLINS

Attorney At Law
Mills Tower, 220 Bush Street
SAN FRANCISCO 4, CALIFORNIA

GArfield 1-5827

October 12, 1960

NOV 30 1950

N &
Mr. Yuzo Takai NO ANDS
40 Valley St. B
Pasadem’ calif. y b7 “I/\— z )

Dear Mr. Takai:

It is time that you paid your obligation to me for legal
services rendered to you and for which on June 20 e L Ly g
you signed promissory notes to pay $800.00 plus interest at
the rate of 6% per year. Your obligation to me is long over-
due.

You were able to pay your own transportation expenses and
those of members of your family back to the U. S. either with
your own money or with borrowed funds. Inasmuch as you were
able to do that it seems to me that you should make immediate
arrangements to pay your obligation to me.

If you will remit to me the sum of $ 775.00 on or by
December 12, 1960, I will accept that sum in lieu of the
sum due on the notes upon which interest has accumulated and
thereupon cancel the notes.

I expect you to answer this letter and let me know what
your intentions are respecting this matter. A self-addressed
stamped envelope is enclosed for your reply.

Very ¢ruly yours,

N




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

\“ This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you“are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If.t is claimed that the fears were
caused E}( threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the tirhe, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more Space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper/should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

. Name

Yuxo Takai Deta o Pl b5 M, 119195/

. If born prior to December™, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese 2 Where
nationality?

No

. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a :]apanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese

nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanése When ' Where
nationality? \

AN

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of eaclkg{:

Date \ Purpose

To \

E

1922 1938 véchoolj}gr\
" \

5. Give details concerning any formal education m Japan:

b

School . Period of Attendance

7 i \
Kubo Primery School, Onomifhi-sghi From Apr 1926 To March 3932

Onomichi Business Commergéial School ;1PI\‘\9.332 March 1936

AN

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

/A

, and youy reasons for so
applying: i

1., I simply wished to join my parents who were living in Japan at that time.

2, Since my answer a "neutral" to Army Questions No 27 & No 28 was rejected
by army representatives, in May 1943, I decided to apply for repatriation
becuase I was told by WRA officials that I might be subject to be punished
to 20 to 30 years for inprisonment if I showed any desloyal to the U.S.

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified w‘ Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? 1 | would swear unqualified allegiance? 3
I am uncertain Yes

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? Uncertain If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?..... N0 If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:
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v

(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? If so, give reasons:

I was hoping that I would be sent to Tule Lake and
I believed it had been scheduled by the Government
to be sent to Japan,

8. (A) | Period of
. Membership
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS:

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

>¢>:><f<><w<><>«><xxxxx

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

Ll S |

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

P

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

L]

Hokoku Seinen-Dan i Unce rtain

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan % il

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan ] Unce r{:a in

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan | | ! "

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

1. I believed the Hokoku Seinen-Dan was formed for lawful purposes and it was
not organized for illegal activities as it was the organization authorised
by W.R.A,

It was necessary for me to join it for security seasons,

I thought that participating in it's activities might help me to prepare
for my future life on arrival to Japan following ny deportation,

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

1 was selected as an officer for a certain ofi ice, I gould not remembered
what sort of office it was, for a short period without my consent,

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:

1 was stopped taking part in it's activities because I was slected to
Block Manager in 1944, soon after the organization formed,
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

1, "I believed it was necessary to join it so that I would avoid being harmed
by it's members.,

2. I also believed it was necessary to join it so that on arrival in Japan
following my deportation the Japanese Govermment and it's people would not
ished me.
(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:
I was failed to discontinue membership because it gbviously would prevented me from
doing so by the officers of the organization, I simply stopped participating in it's
activities by the reasons of "health condition" or "be fully occupied with ny own
business as Block Manager,

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

I am uncertain, but at around June 1944.
Reasons:-
1. 4As I was told by WRA officials that I already lost my US citizenship at the

moment I signed for Application for Repatriation at relocation center in 1943
I was inocent regarding to renounciation when I was presuading to filled out
for "To ask for permission to renounce citizenship" by the members of the
organization,
1 also feared if' I did not renounce citizenship I might be punished or subjected
to resprisals by the Japanese Government or it's people when I arrived in Japan,

Combination of fears arising out of the %Wi/ condition at Tule Lake Camp
at that time,

| (B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:
I do not remember what reasons I stated at the hearin.,,but only I could remembered
the reasons I stated before the Hearing Officer was a déctation from the words
I was given by the organization officers,

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

A moverent of Hokoku Seinen-Dan had became an active as they had
proceeded individual check to find out whether he had a real intention of
renounciation or not, If anyone found failed to filled out application
for renounciation he might expe iled {rom resegregation group and

his name would be on a Black List, that is to say, the name list who's
suspected as desloyal to Japanese Government and it v as said that it
would be sent to Japanese Government prior to deportation,

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

I did not do so because I was interned soon after the date of my hearing
completed, and there was no hope withdrawing application in the intermment

camp,

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

I believed it was not proper thing to do since I joined the mass suits.
1t was the matter of difficult writing such letter to Attorney General
from a person living in Japan
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

1., I was not desloyal to the United States as I had registered in 1940 for
the draft and willing to serve in the armed forces %hough it was refused

by the Government and they classified me as an alien erexny,

2, I also believed that our evacuation and confinement to camp was a rejection by
US Governemtn of our American citizenship and we never again would be accepted
as citizen, in consequence, I feared I would be kept in confinement for an
indefinite period, At the end of the war I would have no place to go except
Japan, and in consequence, I believed I had to renounce US citizenship, so that
I would avoid being punished or subjected to reprisals by the Japanese Government
on arrival in Japan following my deportaiom,

Answer to Ammy Questionnaire No 27 & 28 was compulsory, and I was told by WRA
officials that if I refused answering for it I might be punished to 20 to 30
years for inpraésonment,

4, There were no hope, chance or expectation of being relocated in the U.S.
with safety to mpself,

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

I have had no place to go except Japan since my renounciation was
approved by Attorney General,

As I believed everyone in internment camp was going to be sent to Japan
any way 1 prefered to voluntary-retruning to Japan to avoid deportation,

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship? % v 2
nswer es or o

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on
State the date State the Branch of Service

St AN T EUCH BeLVACE e o et e e et ; I was released from active duty on
Answer Yes or No

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

N/A

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

N/A

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason

for the rejection if known to you.
/A

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Branch of Service

fecture of Hyogbd
obe ) 88
American Consulate General)
(SignatQre in full of applicant)

Tth _ day of. September , 19 Sh

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were

’ caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
£k and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given. y
A If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
\ used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1.\Name Yuzo Takal Date of Birth May 1’ 1919

2. If byrn prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When
nationality? ﬁo

3. If born sh\e December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese

5 nationality?
A

N\

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When Where
nationality? \

4. State periods of visits to'Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

From To

&

£

1922 1938, Taken as 4 ebild.

1945 Present See answfr to Question 10(A).

i

N £
5. Give details concerning any formal educatien in Japan: 4

4

Fy

School \ 4 ‘ Period of Attendance

Kubo Primary School, Qnomichiféhi |From anet] 1926 | T  Mareh 1932

Onomichi Business CQmmercia;fschoal | April 1932 March 1935
"

&

£

V4
Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if glecessary).

§ :

o N ; ) ¢ \ ‘ : "
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6. Have you ever made application for rgi)atriation to Japan?.?.(.ﬁ.j‘.,...lf so,'give date , and your reasons for so
applying: 4 3

See attached sheet

7. (A) Have you ever ,é;(pressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to tHe United States? would swear anqualified allegiance?

Yes, see=sttachad aheel
: RO

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers?..................... AR If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and..e?éeg your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?: If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor: ¥ St ¢ ( ook

v

y »*

See—stiached Bheet e
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? .............. If so, give reasons: .

I believed I knew aboul Tule Lake, My reasons are explained
in answer to Question T(A).

8. (A) frvgee Period of

Membership

Z
°

WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Yes

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

VBB | D600 |6 |0 (B | B 0N B e

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

See atvtached sheet

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

.

See gttached sheet

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
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I was evacuated with my sister, Toshiye, from Ventura, California,
(My parents were in Japan and also brother and two sisters.) My
sister's husband was sick and in the hosgpital in Gila Camp for over
8ix months.

At Gilla Camp, I made request for repatriation. I thought that as a
Kibel, with my parents in Japsan, I was consldered a deportable person,
Just like an alien., There were all kinds of rumors golng around
about the hardships that might oeccur if request were not made, Sovme
men said that there may be a relocation and this meant discrimination
and hostility because of the way the public felt about persons of our
race,

A relative of mine wrote us about how in 1942, in Colorado, they could
not get any Jjob, could not rent anywhere for farming purposes and so
they had to live in a small hut in the mountain side., There were

other cases of different kinds of discrimination to show the publiec did
not want us around., When Minoru Tsukahara came back to Tule lLake, he
told about discrimination while in Ohio in 1943,

At Gilla Camp, George Yamashiro, Klbel, Mr. Muruyama, Kibel, Mr,
ChogyoJl, Kibel and Kaya, Kibel, told me I should make the request.
George Yamashiro was president of Glla Seinen Dan, They sald that if

I did not sign "no" to the army questions and make request for re-
patriation to Japan that there would be a report made which would get in
the hands of Japanese agents, that I would be on a black list and my
parents in Japan would be punished by the authorities. "\

<j;s I remember about the application, an appl?&gfion waé made up and
submitted through the Gilz Young Men and Women's Assoclation,

When later request was made, Mr, 8. Akashi, Issei, Adviser of the
Hoshl Dan group, sald the request should be made, and if I did not do
80, I would get in trouble with the Japanese (Government - not only
myself but members of my family. I was afraid that thils would happen
and since I felt I could not control the ultimate deportation of my-
gelf, if the U.S. Government should declde 1t was necessary, I was
worried to cause my family great punishment,

7T(A)s :

Because of the pressure and confusion of camp life, 1t has been
hard for me to remember abouL the answers and I believed I changed my
answers a few times G ; : , - =

-~'w .-a;*'

There was some meeting about the questionnaire and W.R.A., officlale
attended, It appeared that the persons who gave "yes" answers would
be drafted soon or be freed from camp; those who gave negative answers
would be sent to another place because they already lost status and
there might be some action taken against them; and repatriation could
not be made for persons who gave positive answers,

't;e committee of the Gila Young Men & Women's Assoclakxion
declided that 1ts members should give negative answers and the forus
would be submitted through the Ass'n., and then I should apply for
repatriation., The names of such persons to be sent to the Japanese
Government through a person sald to be walting for an exchange ship.,
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7(A) continued:

e
As a '% sult of this meeting I 3:”-& my answers to @Y the ques-
tlong,’b o" - otherwise I had no rights to form for repatriation,

I was worried that if I didn't give "no" answers,

it would mean army service and my parents in Japan would get
in trouble. George Yamashiro and others like Kaya, ChogyoJi and
Fukuoka used to come around to my place and they told me that they
were checking the persons and how they were conducting themselves and
there would be a report made on a list for a resident in camp who
was waiting for an exchange ship and the report would show anybody
on a black list and such persons would be punished by Japanese agents
upon arrival, (George Yamashiro and others in the assoclation said
giving negative answers was the most safe, rellable way to protect
myself and members of my familyﬂ;

<ff;as afraid of relocation and being sent somewhere to live where it
would be dangerous because of the intense public bad feellng against
persons of our race. There were also rumors and talk about being
drafted which simply meant being persecuted in the armed forces,

I had reglistered for the draft at Ventura, Calif., in Oct. 1940 and
had 3-B classification; later at camp I received a 4-C classification,

7(B):

I would have been willing to do s0 if I had the chance to be free
but under the circumstances Tf=mpsease (see answer to Question 7(A»>

I believed I had to go along as 1 did because of the perlil I was in/

8(B):

I do not have any clear recollection of the time I was in because

for one thing as to when I became a member, it was K, Yoshinaga who
put my name in. I lived in block 72 where there were a number of
active dan leaders, There were leaders such as Mr, Kazuyuki Yoshinaga,
Keiji Obata, Mr. Okada and others.

There were several men who saild things to make 1t look bad for me if

I did not Jjoin - K. Yoshinaga, Sanae Akashi, Issei, block T4, Saburo
Bingo, Isseil, block 73, Dalzo Inouye, block 74 They said I should Join,
that I was not enough Japanese, and those who do not Jjoin will be put on
a list that Akashl had and he said my family in Japan might be killed

by the kempei-tal, There were a lot of tough men in Ward 7 and I was
afraid of a violent reaction if I did not go along with them. Other-
wise I could not stay in camp securely unless I became a member and

I had nowhere to go if they threw me out of camp, They changed the

name of the organization too.

8(c):

Once I was told by George Yoshinaga and M, Shimazaki, roommates and
powerful members of the Ward 7 Branch of the Seinen Dan, that I was
elected as an officer for a certain department of the Branch office
but I refused to accept it because I was holding a position as a
block manager of block 72,

Since my refusal of their offer I was called by them as "White Jap" ete.,
but I never attended its meeting, though they often asked me Lo appear
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8(C) continued:

as officer. I was approached by a few dan members, probably sent by
its headquarters, to persuade me to resign from my post as block
manager and to accept their offer to become an officer of the branch
office. I refused. I realized that they were keeping tab on my
activities and I was afrald of an attack so I decided to cut my hair
short, I knew I was suspected in the eyes of the dan because I did
not resign from the manager's post which was a position they thought
of as spy to the W.,R.A. and I never attended morning exercises but
obtained a medical certificate to aveid them,

I was very surprised when I was later sent to Santa Fe because I could
not see any reason to be considered as an active member of the Seinen
Dan, However, the fact that I was in the same room with G. Yoshinaga,
leading member of the branch, may have had something to do with it,

8(F):

I was scared to stop membership outright. I Just didn't participate
in activities for reasons like "health condition” or "fully occupied
with my own business as block manager".

Men like Obata, Bingo, Akashi and others, Issei in blocks 72, 73 and
T4, warned me about dropping out and said my family in Japan would
suffer., I believe it was Mr. Sato, Issel, who tried to quit and he
was attacked twice. Mr. Kurihara was also mistreated,

9(A):

The influence and pressure of the dan leaders and their powerful ring
was too much to get away from altogether. This was the case through-
out my camp life. (See answers to prior questions)., I believe it

was Akashi and his group that got my name on a list for getting form,

There were all kinds of rumors going about, Jjust as when repatriation
request was made. A group in the dan talked about the dangers outslde
of camp for persons of our race, that by getting the form and re-~
nouncing it would mean staying safely in camp and avoiding any possible
risk of outside persecution. There had been many incidents of bad
treatment by the public against persons of our ancestry and such
demonstrations showed that the public did not want us in their midst.

My father, mother, brother and sisters were in Japan and it was
drummed into my head that if I didn't act enough like a Japanese in
camp - repatriate, renounce, etec., - that my family would suffer the
consequences. I had heard that because of my status, I had little
chance to remain in this country, regardless of what I might do and
that I was deportable and when I arrived in Japan my family and my=-
selfl would be the subjects of Japanese courts and get severe punish-
ment, imprisoned or executed, Mr. Obata of block 72 and his followers
talked about the perils ahead of me if I did not renocunce.

Mr. George Yoshinaga, block 72, truckdriver, and Mr, 8. Bingo, block
T4, kitchen worker said my name would be on a list and notification
would be made to the Japanese Government, Mr. Akashi, Mr. Uchida
and many others talked in this same way.

I was scared of the power of the dan leaders and the way they could
make trouble, (see answer to Question 8), of the Hokoku Seinen Dan,
the Hoshi Dan and the Manzanar Group. The men connected with these
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9(A) continued:

groups were always keeping their eyes on me, especially after I was
elected block manager for block 72. They were men such as Mr, Akashi,
Mr. Obata, Mr. Bingo, Mr., Uchida, Mr. Sasaki, and others, These men
sald I was to do as they wanted - otherwise I had toc risk my life
staying in the camp. I heard about others who had received rough /
treatment in camp for disobeying dan instructions. I had been called
"White Jap" "traitor," and "kokuzoku," and I was afraid that with so
much suspicion of me that I could not hold up against the fanatics.

It was a difficult block I lived in because of the strong dan
influence and propaganda, Mr., Hamamoto, Kibel, block 72, came

daily to the office and checked who renounced. During a meeting,
three members from Manzanar came around saying I did not attend and

I was not loyal to the cause, I was scared I would be beaten.
Yoshinaga and Inouye were Jjudo experts, I was called "Inu" by some
Manzanar gang as I did not go out on exercises and failed to attend
the meeting. All of Yoshinaga's friends came to my barracks and
asked me about renouncing. Mr, Obata, Issel, did some checking about
and snooping around and took down my name.

I saw no point in standing up to the numbers against me, Il I
refused they would have found out about it and I would have been in
danger of any sudden fanatic movement against me, And I thought
that it would do no good anyway because with my status the way it
was and parents and famlly in Japan, I believed the U.S. Government
and the public viewed me and treated me as an alien, a deportable
person at the convenience of the Government agents, My mind was
filled with thoughts of danger to myself, my parents and the little
prospect I had in the future to live in safety.
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
* due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

I believed the Hokeku Seinen Dan was formed for lawful purposes and it was
not orgenized for illegal activities as 1t was the organization asuthorized

by W.R.A,

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

S8ee attached sheet

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship? URig@rtain
Give reasons for so doing:

See attached sheet

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

The ressons I gave to the officer were the reasons the organization die-
tated by the organization officers which they told us to say and I was
afraid not to say them, I was plcked up and sent to Santa Fe in Dec, 1044,

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renujxciation:

My answer %0 Question 9(A) covers perlod while I was at Tule Lake -
before being sent to Santa Fe,

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

I was interned and there was no hope of withdrawing spplication while
in internuent camp.

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary. . -

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

I believed everyore in internment canp was deportable and 1t was better to
g0 to Japan in veoluntary way because of how it would appear on record when
we arrived in Japan, This way I would not be taking risks belng regarded
susplciously upon arrival,

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?
Answer Yes or No

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

I have worked for Australian and British suthorities at Kure;

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on in the ; my Serial number is
State the date State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service 3 I was released from active duty on and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or No

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D} If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

JAPAN

PREFECTURE OF HYOGO s -

CITY OF KOBE /s/ Yuzo Takal
CONSULATE GENERAL OF THE (Signature in full"c')f applicant)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA) 29th May 58

Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of k) Ko Pl

Service No, /s/ Howard B. Crotinger
Tariff No. 58(a) Vice Consul of the United States of
Fee Pald: Gratis America

U.S. Consulate General Seal
Kobe-0Osaka, Japan

This afidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

#

. e i
1. Name vuzo Takai Date of Birth May 1’ 1913

2. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When
nationality? No

|

3. If born since December 1, 1924 Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

From To

1922 1938 Taken as a child.

1945 Present See answer to Question 10(A).

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period of Attendance

Kubo Primary School, Onomichi-shi | April 1926 |™° March 1932

Onomichi Business Commercial School ‘ April 1932 March 1935

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

> . v d y Ql2 [} {5
6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?............._.. If so, give date. June 1 "u_) 0019£'/, and your reasons for so
applying:

See attached sheet

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? would swear unqualified allegiance?

Yes, see attached sheet No

No

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you? If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

See attached sheet




(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answery
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake?................ If so, give reasons, ~y

I believed I knew about Tule Lake., My reasons are explained
in answer to Question T(A).

Answer

8. (A) Period of
Membership
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Yes

Z
o

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

S I R Rl T R R R R - B e

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

]

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

bl ol o

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples
Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suil;‘ Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan
Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan
Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

See attached sheet

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

See attached sheet

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
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6:

I was evacuated with my sister, Toshiye, from Ventura, California.
(My parents were in Japan and also brother and two sisters.) My
sister's husband was sick and in the hospital in Gila Camp for over
six months.

At ‘Gila Camp, I made request for repatriation. I thought that as a
Kibei, with my parents in Japan, I was considered a deportable person,
just like an alien., There were all kinds of rumors golng around
about the hardships that might occur if request were not made. Some
men sald that there may be a relocation and this meant discrimination
and hostlility because of the way the public felt about persons of our
race.

A relative of mine wrote us about how in 1942, in Colorado, they could
not get any job, could not rent anywhere for farming purposes and so
they had to live in a small hut in the mountain side. There were

other cases of different kinds of discrimination to show the publlc did
not want us around. When Minoru Tsukahara came back to Tule Lake, he
told about discrimination while in Ohio in 1943,

At Gila Camp, George Yamashiro, Kibei, Mr, Muruyama, Kibei, Mr.
ChogyoJji, Kibeil and Kaya, Kibei, told me I should make the request.
George Yamashiro was president of Gila Seinen Dan. They said that if

I did not sign "no" to the army questions and make request for re-
patriation to Japan that there would be a report made which would get in
the hands of Japanese agents, that I would be on a black list and my
parents in Japan would be punished by the authorities.

As' I remember about the application, an application was made up and
submitted through the Gila Young Men and Women's Association.

When later request was made, Mr. S. Akashi, Issei, Adviser of the
Hoshi Dan group, said the request should be made, and if I did not do
so, I would get in trouble with the Japanese Government - not only
myself but members of my family. I was afraid that this would happen
and since I felt I could not control the ultimate deportation of my-
self, 1f the U.S. Government should decide if was necessary, I was
worried to cause my famlly great punishment.

T(A):

Because of the pressure 'and confusion of camp life, 1t has been

hard for me to remember about the answers and I believed I changed my
answers a few times. At first I said - neutral and this was accepted.
Then a few days later I was called by an Army representative and was
told that my answers would not be accepted and I tried to explain my
difficulties. I then gave "yes" answers.

There was some meeting about the questionnaire and W.R.A. officilals
attended. It appeared that the persons who gave "yes" answers would
be drafted soon or be freed from camp; those who gave negatlive answers
would be sent to another place because they already lost status and
there might be some action taken against them; and repatriation could
not be made for persons who gave positive answers.

Afterwards, the committee of the Gila Young Men & Women's Assoclation
decided that its members should give negative answers and the forms
would be submitted through the Ass'n., and then I should apply for
repatriation. The names of such persons to be sent to the Japanese
Government through a person said to be waiting for an exchange ship.
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T(A) continued:

As a result gf this meeting I changed my answers to one of the ques-
tions to "no" - otherwise I had no rights to form for repatriation.

I was worried that if I didn't give "no" answer to one of the ques-
tions, it would mean army service and my parents in Japan would get
in trouble. .George Yamashiro and others like Kaya, Chogyoji and
Fukuoka used to come around to my place and they told me that they
were checking the persons and how they were conducting themselves and
there would be a report made on a list for a resident in camp who

was waiting for an exchange ship and the report would show anybody

on a black list and such persons would be punished by Japanese agents
upon arrival. George Yamashiro and others in the association said
giving negative answers was the most safe, reliable way to protect
myself and members of my family.

I was afraid of relocation and being sent somewhere to live where it
would be dangerous because of the lntense public bad feeling against
persons of our race. There were also rumors and talk about being
drafted which simply meant being persecuted in the armed forces.

I had registered for the draft at Ventura, Calif., in Oct. 1940 and
had 3-B classification; later at camp I received a 4-C classification.

7(B):

I would have been willing to do so 1f I had the chance to be free
but under the circumstances of my case (see answer to Question 7(A).
I believed I had to go along as I did because of the peril I was in.

8(B):

I do not have any clear recollection of the time I was in because

for one thing as to when I became a member, it was K. Yoshinaga who
put my name in. I l1ived in block 72 where there were a number of
active dan leaders. . There were leaders such as Mr. Kazuyuki Yoshlnaga,
Keiji Obata, Mr. Okada and others.

There were several men who sald things to make it look bad for me 1if

I did not join - K. Yoshlnaga, Sanae Akashi, Issel, block 74, Saburo
Bingo, Issei, block 73, Daizo Inouye, block T74. They said I should Jjoin,
that I was not enough Japanese, and those who do not join will be put on
a list that Akashi had and he said my family in Japan might be killed

by the kempel-tal. There were a lot of tough men 1in wWard 7 and I was
afraid of a violent reaction if I did not go along with them. Other-
wise T could not stay in camp securely unless I became a member and

I had nowhere to go 1f they threw me out of camp. They changed the

name of the organization too.

8(C):

Once I was told by George Yoshinaga and M. Shimazaki, roommates and
powerful members of the Ward 7 Branch of the Seinen Dan, that I was
elected as an officer for a certain department of the Branch office
put I refused to accept it because I was holding a position as a
block manager of block T2

Since my refusal of their offer I was called by them as "White Jap" etc.,
but T never attended its meeting, though they often asked me to appear
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8(C) continued:

as officer., I was approached by a few dan members, probably sent by
its headquarters, to persuade me to resign from my post as block
manager and to accept their offer to become an officer of the branch
office. ' I refused. I realized that they were keeping tab on my
activities and I was afrald of an attack so I decided to cut my hair
short. I knew I was suspected in the eyes of the dan because I did
not resign from the manager's post which was a position they thought
of as spy to the W.R.A. and I never attended morning exercises but
obtained a medical certificate to aveid them.

I was very surprised when I was later sent to Santa Fe because I could
not see any reason to be considered as an active member of the Seinen
Dan. However, the fact that I was in the same room with G. Yoshinaga,
leading member of the branch, may have had something to do with 1t.

8(F):

I was scared to stop membership outright. I just didn't participate
in activities for reasons like "health condition" or "fully occupied
with my own business as block manager".

Men like Obata, Bingo, Akashi and others, Issei in blocks 72, 73 and
74, warned me about dropping out and said my family in Japan would
suffer. I believe it was Mr. Sato, Isseil, who tried to quit and he
was attacked twice. Mr. Kurihara was also mistreated.

9(A):

The influence and pressure of the dan leaders and their powerful ring
was too much to get away from altogether. This was the case through-
out my camp life. (See answers to prior questions). I believe 1t

was Akashi and his group that got my name on a list for getting form.

There were all kinds of rumors going about, just as when repatrlation
request was made. A group in the dan talked about the dangers outside
of camp for persons of our race, that by getting the form and re-
nouncing it would mean staying safely in camp and avoiding any possible
risk of outside persecution., There had been many incidents of bad
treatment by the public against persons of our ancestry and such
demonstrations showed that the public did not want us in their mids€t.

My father, mother, brother and sisters were in Japan and it was
drummed into my head that if I didn't act enough like a Japanese in
camp - repatriate, renounce, etc., - that my family would suffer the
consequences, I had heard that because of my status, I had little
chance to remain in this country, regardless of what I might do and
that I was deportable and when I arrived in Japan my family and my-
self would be the subjects of Japanese courts and get severe punish-
ment, imprisoned or executed. Mr, Obata of block 72 and his followers
talked about the perils ahead of me if I did not renounce.

Mr. George Yoshinaga, block 72, truckdriver, and Mr. S. Bingo, block
74, kitchen worker sald my name would be on a list and notification
would be made to the Japanese Government. Mr. Akashi, Mr. Uchida
and many others talked in this same way.

I was scared of the power of the dan leaders and the way they could
make trouble, (see answer to Question 8), of the Hokoku Seinen Dan,
the Hoshi Dan and the Manzanar Group. The men connected with these
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Yuzo Takal

9(A) continued:

groups were always keeping their eyes on me, especially after I was
elected block manager for block 72. They were men such as Mr. Akashi,
Mr. Obata, Mr. Bingo, Mr. Uchida, Mr. Sasaki, and others. These men
said I was to do as they wanted - otherwise I had to risk my life
staying in the camp. I heard about others who had recelved rough
treatment in camp for disobeying dan instructions. I had been called
"White Jap," "traitor," and "kokuzoku," and I was afraid that with so
much suspicion of me that I could not hold up against the fanatics.

It was a difficult block I lived in because of the strong dan
influence and propaganda. Mr. Hamamoto, Kibei, block 72, came

daily to the office and checked who renounced. During a meeting,
three members from Manzanar came around saying I did not attend and

I was not loyal to the cause, I was scared I would be beaten.
Yoshinaga and Inouye were judo experts. I was called "Inu" by some
Manzanar gang as I did not go out on exercises and failed to attend
the meeting. All of Yoshinaga's friends came to my barracks and
asked me about renouncing. Mr, Obata, Isseli, did some checking about
and snooping around and took down my name.

I saw no point in standing up to the numbers against me. If I
refused they would have found out about it and I would have been in
danger of any sudden fanatic movement against me. And I thought
that it would do no good anyway because with my status the way 1t
was and parents and family in Japan, I believed the U.S. Government
and the public viewed me and treated me as an alien, a deportable
person at the convenience of the Government agents. My mind was
filled with thoughts of danger to myself, my parents and the little
prospect I had in the future to live 1in safety.
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A you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

T believed the Hokoku Seinen Dan was formed for lawful purposes and 1t was
not organized for illegal activities as it was the organization authorized
by W R A

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

See attached sheet

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship? Jncertain
Give reasons for so doing:

See attached sheet

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:
The reasons I gave to the officer were the reasons the organization dic-

tated by the organization officers which they told us to say apd I was
afraid not to say them. I was picked up and sent to Santa Fe in Dec. 1944,

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

My answer to Question 9(A) covers period while I was at Tule Lake -
before being sent to Santa Fe.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

I was interned and there was no hope of withdrawing application while
in internment camp.

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:




(E) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your Ugs
if necessary.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

I believed everyone in internment camp was deportable and it was better to
go to Japan in voluntary way because of how 1t would appear on record when
we arrived in Japan. This way I would not be taking risks belng regarded
suspiciously upon arrival.

; ; : ; =% . NO
(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?.......0 .o e
Answer Yes or No

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.
I have worked for Australian and British authorities at Kure;

1946-1957.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

L enlisted (or was drafted) on in the ; my Serial number is
State the date ¢

I still am in such service ..3 I was released from active duty on and received my Discharge
Answer Yes or No

on

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Nl;mber i

JAPAN
PREFECTURE OF HYOGO

TY OF KOBE

UNITED STATES ©F AMERILA (Signature in full of applicant)

CL}MSU‘._' TE GENERAL OF THE| v /%%/é“

Subscribed and sworn to before me this....28th £y of May , 19.88

=

HOWARD B. CROTINGER

,1,,;::12?' Fonsui of the .
‘ | i Htead States of America
o Lx £

Local Cy. equiv.¥.

This afidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




PERSONAL QUESTIONNAIRE

Please read this questionnaire carefully and then print, type or write your answers legibly
to the following questions.
Yuzo Takai

State your full name.

Male? .. X Female? Maiden Name? ome

Present address: . 294, Kubo-cho, Onomichi-shi, Hiroshima=ken, Japan.

PRELIMINARY QUESTIONS

Where did you live before evacuation?
Rt 1 Box 20, Ventura, Califormia.

What was your occupation before evacuation? ... Employed as labour in :
Ventura Citrus: Association, Ventura, Calif.

Who, if anyone, was wholly or partially dependent upon you for support at the time you
were evacuated? ... NO

Where did your father and mother reside at the time of evacuation? .. Japan

Were they aliens? Tes i
What were their ages at the time of evacuation? .. Mother - 52, Father - 64.
Were your parents both evacuated also? ..NO. .. Was either of them in ill health while in

a WRA Center? ......... Was either of them hospitalized while in a WRA Center?
If so, when and in what Center? ... He8e

If so, state who was, and, if hospitalized, state when, for what period of time, and in what
Centery _ Brother-in-low (my sister's kmsband), suffering from a local disease

in Gila Camp, Arizona, stayed in hospital in the Camp over 6 months,
from May. 1943 to Nov 1943,
When and where were you married? In Japan. October 1947.

What is the name of your spouse? (wife) Yoshiko Takai

Is your spouse (wife or husband) a U. S. citizen, a renunciant or an alien?

What are the names, birthdates and birthplaces of your children? ol
Daughter - Junko Takai, born June 20, 1948 at Kaitaichi-machi, Hiroshima-ken Japan.
Daughter - Mari Takai, born Aug 22, 1950 at " . .

What members of your family were evacuated with you? .. With my sister

State what members of your family (spouse, mother, father, brothers, sisters or children),
were in Japan during the war?
Mother, father, brother and two sisters were in Japan.
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Who of them, if any, were U. S. citizens? ...} _¢ldest sister

Did any of them serve in the Japanese armed forces? No

State what members, if any, of your spouse’s family (your father-in-law, mother-in-law,
sisters-in-law, brothers-in-law, or step-children) were in Japan during the war and whether
they are U. S. citizens or Japanese aliens? N.A,

Did you suffer any property losses by reason of your evacuation? ..NO._ . Did you file a
claim to recover losses you suffered by reason of your evacuation? No . For what
amount did you file your claim? ., ‘What amount did you receive in settlement
of your claims? Did your parents suffer any property losses by reason of
evacuation? ..NO_ . If so, for what amount did they file claims?
What amount did they receive in settlement of their claims?

State whether your husband, father or any other member of your family was interned as
an alien enemy after the outbreak of war in an Alien Enemy Internment Camp, for
removal to Japan, and, if so, in what camp? No

When and where were you reunited with such member of your family? ... NeAs

Re: LEAVES

Did you apply for ‘‘short term’’, ‘‘seasonal work’’, ‘‘indefinite leave’’, ‘“‘student’s leave’’
or ‘‘relocation’’ while you were in a WRA Center? No
When did you make that application? N.A.

In what camp were you at that time? HeA,

I‘I.Ao

What reasons were given to you for denying your application? .. Na.4.

Did you go out for seasonal work or on any leave clearance? ... No
you go and for what period of time? .. NeA.

What type of work did you do? V.4,

Did you experience any discrimination or persecution while on leave?
the experience.

To what Center did you return? .
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State the names of any members of your family or any of your friends who went out on

leave or relocation and experienced diserimination or persecution.

They could not get any Jjob, could not rent anywhere

What happened to them?

for farming purpose, consequently, they had to lived
in a small hut in the mountain-side.

When and where did the occurrences take place? ....1242, in Colorado.

From whom or what sources did you hear or learn those things?
They, a distant relative of mine, wrote us all about 1%,

Did vou know or learn of any other persons on leave having been subjected to diserimina-

tion or persecution? ... What were their names?
Though I heard some other cases I do not remembered any particulars

‘What happened to them?

When and where did the occurrences take place? .............

Re: APPLICATIONS FOR REPATRIATION

To what Assembly Center were you evacuated? ...
Turale Assembly Center, California.

To what WRA Center were you next transferred? ...
Butte Camp (or No 2 Camp) Gila, Arizona.

In what Block did you live there? Block 48,

With whom did you share quarters there? ;
With my sister, her husband and thier child.

In what Camp were you when you applied for repatriation to Japan?
No 2 Camp ,Gila, Arizona.

Did you make that application before or after you answered the Army Questionnaire in
February or March, 19437 After v
When did you make that application? .Exact date not certain but about May 1943.

Did you personally make that application? ..No.. If not, who did? .An_application was
made up and submitted through the Gila Young Men & Womens' Association

Did any of the following persons also make applications for repatriation to Japan?
Your husband? .1 wife? father? mother? .= brothers?
sisters? ..No___ father-in-law? mother-in-law? ... N9 __ brothers-in-law?
in-law? When and in what Center were they at the time they did this?

Did they then fear that the government intended to deport all aliens to Japan? ... .:
that it intended to deport all Kibei to Japan? ... ; that it intended to deport all Nisei to
Japant . il
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Did you make more than one application for repatriation to Japan, and, if so, when and

where did you do so? ...I made the second ome at Tule Lake Center.
Probably an early 1944.

What members of your family pressured you into applying for repatriation to Japan?
N.A.

N.A.

What did they say to you to get you to apply for repatriation?

Did anyone else, not a member of your family, pressure you into applying for repatriation

to Japan? .X€8_. Name the persons who did ,state whether they were Issei, Kibei, or
Nisei, At the Gila Camp, George Yamashiro,,President of Gila Young Men & Women' Assn,

At Tule Leke, S. Akashi, Issei, Adviser of the Hoshidan group.

If those persons were leaders or members of any organization state the name of the organ-

ization. As above.

What did those persons tell you to get you to apply for repatriation? If I did not do so my
name will be on a black-list and get in trouble with Jap govent net only myself but

all members of my family who were in Japan at the time,

What did you then believe would happen to you if you did not make an application for
Al]l the member of my family may killed or sentenced to a

repatriation to Japan?
long term imprisomment by the Japanese govermment.

Were you fearful that if you did not apply for repatriation you would be separated from
your husband? wife? .NeAs  children? mother? Nefs Ny

brothers? . NeA. sisters? .Nehs  or other persons?

Were those persons in the same Center with you at the time you applied for repatriation?

If any of them were not, state who was not and where they were at the time.
N.A.

Did you believe that if you didn’t apply for repatriation to Japan that sooner or later you
would be forced to relocate in the U. S.? ; in an area hostile to Japanese? .X¢S
that you might be drafted into the armed forces? Yes ; that you would be separated from
alien members of your family you believed would be deported to Japan? ...

Did you make application for repatriation because you believed the Government had no use
for you and intended to deport you to Japan because you were a Kibei? ; or that it
intended to deport you to Japan because your parents were there? .88 ; or because your
parents were aliens here and that it intended to deport them on an exchange ship to Japan
simply because they were aliens? ... ; and that they wanted you to be with them and
not be separated from them? ...

Re: QUESTIONS 27 AND 28

In what WRA Center were you at the time you answered the Army Questionnaire contain-
ing Questions Nos. 27 and 28? No 2 Camp Gila, Arizona.

Was the Questionnaire you answered the Army Questionnaire or the WRA Application
for Leave Clearance, if you remember? I .do not remenbered
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Did you give a negative answer to Question No. 277 Y82 . to Question No. 287 Yes

Did you refuse to answer Question No. 271.......... ; Question No. 287 (Please see the

; ) oy attached paper)
Did any members of your family pressure you or threaten you into giving a “No’’ answer

to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or into refusing to answer those questions? ..NQ . Who were

the family members who did this?

What did they say to you to get you to answer ‘“No’’ to those questions or to refuse to
I‘I-A.

answer those questionst

Did you give a ‘“No’’ answer to those questions or refuse to answer them because your
father? .15 mother? ..Y83. brothers? . Yes__ gsisters? _Yes

or were willing to
swear allegiance to the U. S.? Jes  Did you give ‘“No’’ answers to those questions or
refuse to answer them because your father? .. ... .. . mother? brothers® it ...
sisters? ... or other family members? ... were in the U. S. but you believed they were
to be deported to Japan and that they would get in trouble with the Japanese Government
when they arrived there if you had answered ‘“Yes’’ to those questions? Did you give
a ‘““No’” answer to those questions because you believed that eventually you would be
deported to Japan and you feared that if you gave a ‘‘Yes’’ answer to those questions you
would get in trouble with the Japanese Government when you arrived in J apan? .Yes
Did any other persons pressure or threaten you into giving ‘“No’’ answers to those
questions or into refusing to answer those questions? Y2 __ What are the names of those
persons and state whether they were Issei, Kibei, or Nisei and the Blocks in which they

lived and the organization, if any, of which they were members?
George Yamashiro, Kibei, the president of Gila Young Men & Womens' Assciation. 7t

What did those persons say to you to get you to give ““No’’ answers to those questions or

to refuse to answer those questions? Yas Yold by them that giving a negative o
to the questions is the most safe, reasonable and remarkable way of protecting myse
At Whole M HbE FE ST iy TAL T

What did you fear would happen to you if you didn’t give ‘“No’’ answers to those questions
or you didn’t refuse to answer them?.....Fiease see the attached paper.

What did you fear would happen to other members of your family if you didn’t give ‘“No?”’

answers to those questions or you did not refuse to answer them? .
N.A.

Did you refuse to answer those questions because you already had applied for repatriation
to Japan and you understood that if you already had applied for repatriation you did not
have to answer those questions? ...No

Did you give ‘“No’’ answers to those questions or refuse to answer them because you
resented being evacuated, confined to a WRA Center and treated like an alien? __Yes

Did you give ‘“No’’ answers to those questions or refuse to answer them because you
already had applied for repatriation and believed that if you gave ‘“‘Yes’’ answers your
application for repatriation would be cancelled and you might be drafted into the armed
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forces? .. s or be forcibly relocated in the U. S. while the war still was going on?
.Yes.... Did you fear that if you were to be drafted you would be discriminated against and
be persecuted in the armed forces? ..¥€8.. Did you fear that if you were drafted? .. Yes... or
relocated? Yes.... you would be permanently separated from members of your family who
were to be repatriated to Japan? ... ; from what family members did you fear to be
separated?

Did anyone else, not a member of your family, pressure or threaten you into giving ““No”
answers to those questions? .N@ What were their names and state whether they were
Issei, Kibei or Nisei and the names of the organizations to which they belonged?

Did you fear that if you gave ‘‘Yes’’ answers to those questions that you would have to
stay in camp and be separated from your parents or other family members who were to be
deported to Japan because they were aliens or because they had asked to be sent to Japan
and you did not want to be separated from them? .NsA.. From what parent or family
members did you fear separation? ... NsAe

Did you fear that if you gave ‘‘Yes’’ answers to those questions you eventually would
have to relocate in this country during the war and would be in danger from hostile
Caucasians? Tes

Who told you that this might happen to you?
George Yamashiro & other powerfull members of the Gila Young Men & Womens' Assn,

Did you fear that if you gave ‘‘Yes’’ answers to those questions that it would mean you
might be drafted into military service where you would be discriminated against or be
persecuted by fellow soldiers or that you might be used as cannon fodder just because you
had Japanese ancestry? Who told you that this might happen to you?

Did you fear that if you gave ‘‘Yes’’ answers to those questions that you might be attacked
and harmed by groups of Issei, Kibei or Nisei in camp? ... Name the group and its
leaders or members from whom you feared this danger? .. .Not certain

Did you give ‘‘No’’ answers to those questions as a protest against the mistreatment of
evacuation and confinement to a camp?

Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend or anyone else attacked by
members of the pressure groups in that Center for showing loyalty to the U. S.? ...
or opposition to the pressure groups? ... or for giving ‘‘Yes’’ answers to Questions

Nos. 27 and 28?7 If so, state the names of the persons who were attacked
Not remembered

When were they attacked? By whom were they attacked?

Did you then believe that if you gave a ‘‘No’’ answer to those questions that you would
be allowed to stay in the Center for the duration of the war and in this way you and your
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family would be free from danger of persecution by Caucasians? ... Who told you
this?

Did you give ““No’’ answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or refuse to answer those ques-
tions because you had been informed by the WRA or understood that because you already
had applied for repatriation to Japan that you did not have to answer those questions?

Who told you this?

Did you ever give a ‘“‘Yes’’ answer to Question No. 279 . ; to Question No. 287

Did you change your answer to Question No. 27 or 28 to ‘‘No’’ at any time?

Did you change your answer to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 to ‘“No’’ or refuse to give ‘‘Yes”’
answers to those questions by July 31, 1943, because you knew that ‘‘No’’ answers or a
refusal to answer those questions would mean that you would be sent to Tule Lake or be
segregated there with alien members of your family from whom you did not want to be
separated? ...

When and where did you first register for the draft?
April 1941, at Ventura California.

What classification did you first receive? I-A Did you ever receive a 4-C

(alien enemy) classification? .¥€8 . When did you receive that 4-C classification?
Febs or March 1945 (lif-my memoiy isnsorrect)m

: : 7 Mexi
In what Center were you when you received it? Fata Fe, New Mexico.

Did you receive that 4-C classification before you answered the Army Questionnaire in

February or March of 1943 while you were in a WRA Center or did you receive it
afterward? Afterward

While you were in any WRA Center did you sign a petition addressed to the Attorney
General, the President, the Army, the WRA or other governmental agency or agent stating
in substance that if you were freed and returned to your home you would fight for the U. S.
and give your life if necessary for this country? ... In what Center were you at the

time? I do not remenbered

Did you sign such a petition before you answered the Army Questionnaire in February or
March, 1943 or afterward? ... Did you sign such a petition before you made a request
for repatriation to Japan or afterward? ... When were your parents first placed on
the free list or notified that they could be relocated?

Were any other members of your family placed on the WRA free list for relocation
purposes and, if so, who were they and when were they placed on the free list?

Would you have been willing to swear unqualified allegiance to the U. S. while you were
in a WRA Center if the Government had allowed you to return to your home as a free
citizen? ... Would you have been willing to return to your home alone? ... ; without
the citizen members of your family likewise being freed from detention? ... ; without the
alien members of your family also being freed? ... Would you have been willing only if
the Government would assure you that you would be relocated safe from harm from
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Caucasians? _.-S5_; that the citizen members of your family would be relocated safe from
harm otose ; and that the alien members of your family would be relocated safely?
Were the alien members of your family willing to return to their homes during the
war if the Government would allow them? ... Were they willing to be relocated else-
where in the U. S.? e

Did you keep in touch with your Local Draft Board while you were in a WRA Center?

Did you report to your Draft Board after you were released from camp? N.A.

To what Draft Board? ... Nsf

What draft classification did you finally receive?
After your release from camp did you volunteer for service in our armed forces?

Were you drafted into the armed forces? i When ; into what
branch? ; what period of time did you serve? ..o :
where did you serve? ; what was your

Serial Number? Have you received an Honorable Discharge from

Ne.A.

such service? ... ; what is the date of that Discharge?

Re: MEMBERSHIP IN ORGANIZATIONS

Were you at any time a member of the Hoshi Dan? ... ; Seinen Dan? Jes ; or Joshi

Dant ol ; at the Tule Lake Center? Ty When did you become a member?

. L
How long were you a member? Not oer‘t_a_ln ~ about © or 7 months

When did you stop being a member?
In what Block did you live at the time you became a member? Block 72
What was the name of your Block Manager? (First name unknown) Surname was OBATA

With whom did you share living quarters at the Tule Lake Center? . ":th 4 bachelors;
Thier names were, George Yoshinaga, Frank Kawamoto & Masaru Shimasaki.

What organizations were active in that Block?
Ward 7 Branch of the HOKOKU SEINENDAN.

What were the names of the leaders of the organizations in your Block?
Gorge Yoshinaga, Head of the Ward 7 Branch. Mr Obata, adviser of the HOSHIDAN.,

Was your father? ... or mother? ... a member of any organizations? .. No. . ...

Did they persuade you to become a member? ... No  What did they say to you to persuade

you to become a member?

What other members of your family were members of the Hoshi Dan? N.4.

Joshi Dan? N.A.
N.A.

Seinen Dan?

Why did they become members?

What are the names of the persons other than members of your family who persuaded or

threatened you into becoming a member and state whether such persons were Issei, Kibei
or Nigei? _ George Yoshinara, Kibei. S. Akashi, Issei. Obata, Issei,

Se Bingo, Isei. Uchida, Kibei. T. Hashimoto, Kibei.
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What did they tell you to persuade you to become a member?
To be notified to the Jap govermment as a traitor.

What did they say would happen to you if you did not become a member?
To be endangered my life,and the whole members of ny family as well,

What did you believe would happen to you if you did not become a member? L Pelieved that
I could not stey in Camp securely unless I became a member. I had no where to go

General member

: ‘ What office, if any, did you hold in the organization?

What duties did you perform? None (Please see the attached paper)

How did you become an officer? Hals

N.A.

When did you become an officer?
TL‘I'AQ

From whom did you receive notice that you were an officer?

What duties did you perform as an officer? N.A.

Approximately how

Approximately how many lectures
did you attend? 91 _OT tWiPRat was the nature of those lectures? . L 4o not remembered

Did you participate in any of their marching demonstrations? ... If so, how many?
do not remembered

Did you attend any other meetings of the organization? .. No Where and how often?

Did you tell anyone you wanted to drop membership? ... State the names of the
I do not remembered

persons you told you wanted to drop membership.

Did anybody warn you that you could not withdraw from membership? ... Who gave

you such a warning? Not certain

What did they tell you would happen if you dropped your membership or tried to drop
To be on a black-list which was said to submit to the Jap

governmment. by an earliest Exchange Ship.

membership?

Had you learned that anyone who tried to drop membership had been threatened or had

been beaten up for trying to drop membership? . Tes Who, if you know, was beaten for

trying to do it? I heard a quite few cases like it but I don't remebered any particula

What group did you hear was responsible for beating persons who tried to withdraw from

membership? I believed it was done by the menber of HOSHIDAN & SEINENDAN.

Were you in fear that you would be attacked and beaten up by members if you tried to

drop membership? €5 __ What groups did you fear might do this?
HOSHIDAN, SEINENDAN and other unknown groups.
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Were you told that if you tried to drop membership the organization would report this
matter to the Japanese Government and that when you were deported to Japan you would
get in trouble with the Japanese Government? .¥€S . Who told you this? OBATA, BINGO,

,.AKASHT & OHNO,an adviserscgroup which was said to be an element body that holdings

! ‘ : 'blackli
Did you fear that if you dropped membership you would get in trouble with the J a%anese e

Government when you were deported to Japan?

Were you told that if you tried to drop membership the organization leaders would report
this matter to the Japanese Government and that your alien parents would get in trouble
with the Japanese Government when they were sent to Japan for not being able to control
your actions? ... Who told you this? NeAe

Did you fear that if you dropped membership your parents who were to be sent to Japan
would get in trouble there? ... 1N.A.

Did you have your hair cut short or shaved? Tes pid you wear any insignia of the

organization and, if so, what insignia? ... Rising=-sun, if my memory is correct,

If you or any member of your family was placed in the ‘‘Stockade’’ at Tule Lake Center
state who was, for what period of time and for what reason ... N°

What was the nature of your employment and where did you work while you were in
Tule Lake? 1). Coal crew

2). _Block-manager of Block 72.

What were your working hours? unknown . you working while you were a member of

any organization at Tule? .Y3_ What were the names of some of your fellow workers?
1), When I was in Coal Crew - George Yoshinaga. (truckiriver)

2). While I was Block-manager - Miss Setsuko Okada (secretary)

Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend attacked by any members of any
of the pressure groups at Tule Lake? ... Who was?
Not certain

‘When? By whom?
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Re: REQUESTS FOR FORMS UPON WHICH
TO RENOUNCE CITIZENSHIP

When did you send a letter to the Attorney General or the Justice Department asking for
forms upon which to renounce your citizenship? (Month is not certain Maybe Ang 194

(Note: On December 19, 1944, General Pratt removed the ban on the return of Japanese to
the West Coast. On December 21, 1944, the Newell Star, the Tule Lake Center newspaper,
announced that all the WRA camps would be closed in about one year. Notices of this also
may have been posted in the block manager’s offices, the mess halls and other places in camp.

Therefore, if you sent a letter to the Attorney General or the Justice Department before
December 21, 1944, asking for forms upon which to renounce citizenship you probably were
not then in fear of the camp being closed and of being forced to relocate in a hostile area
without funds or a home to which you could go. If you sent such a letter between December
21, 1944 and January 29, 1945, you probably were in fear of being relocated in such circum-
stances. On January 29, 1945, the WRA announced that Tule Lake would be kept open and
that there would not be any forced relocations. If you sent your letter after Jaunary 29,
1945, the Justice Department will be inclined to believe you were not then in actual fear of
being foreibly relocated in a hostile area without funds or a home to which you could go
unless you convinee it that you did not believe the January 29, 1945, announcement that the
Tule Lake Center would be kept open and that no one would be forced to relocate.)

Did you send that letter to the Attorney General or to the Justice Department before that
December 21, 1944 announcement that all the WRA Centers will be closed within a year?
No_ .. Did you send it between December 21, 1944 and J anuary 29, 19457 __No

Did you send it after the announcement of January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center
would be kept open? .. NO

If you sent in your letter to the Justice Department after the WRA’s announcement of
January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center would be kept open and that there would not
be any forcible relocations you probably did not send that letter requesting forms upon
which to renounce your citizenship by reason of fear that the Tule Lake Center would be
closed and that you and your family would be forced to relocate and therefore, you should
answer the following questions:

(a) From what source did you learn about that announcement of January 29, 1945: In
the Newell Star? ; from a notice on a bulletin board? ... ; from the Block

Manager? ... ; from what other persons?
N.A,

(b) Did you believe the announcement? ... If not, state why you did not believe the
announcement. N.A.

(e) Did anyone tell you that you could not trust that announcement? ... If so, state who

told you not to rely on that announcement and what they said to you to make you disbelieve
it' I‘T.Ao

If the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all Centers would be closed within a year
and the announcement of January 29, 1945, that Tule Lake Center would be kept open and
there would not be any forcible relocations did not have anything to do with your decision
to renounce your citizenship did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for
forms upon which to renounce citizenship because of any of the following fears, namely:
(a) fear of separation from alien members of your family, such as father? ... mother?
father-in-law? ... mother-in-law? ... step-father? ... step-mother?
other aliens? ... who you believed were to be deported to Japan? ... ; (b) fear of
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being separated from citizen members of your family, such as your wife? ... husband ?
children? ... who you believed would have to relocate in the U. S.?

who you believed would be deported to Japan? ... ; (¢) fear of being deported your-

self because you had given negative answers to Questions Nos. 27 or 28 and were

considered a disloyal person? ... ; (d) fear of threat or harm to yourself?

your wife? ... or husband? ... or children? ... or mother? ... or father?
or other members? ... of your family from gangs in the Center? .......... ; (e) fear

of mistreatment or physical harm from the Government or its agents? ...

Did the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all the WRA Centers would be closed

within a year cause you to send that letter to the Justice Department? ..HQ.... Did you read

that announcement in the Newell Star? .X€5_.; from a bulletin board? ; or learn

about it from the Block Manager? ... ; or from other persons and, if so, name the

persons:

Did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon which to
renounce your citizenship because you feared that December 21, 1944, announcement meant
that you and the citizen members of your family would be forcibly relocated without
money, a home or job in an area where people were hostile to Japanese while the war still
was going on unless you renounced your citizenship? ... Were you afraid of being
relocated because you had heard that jobs were scarce? ... ; that employers did not
wish to hire Japanese and you might not get work to support yourself and your family?

; that the public was hostile to Japanese and you feared mob violence? ... If
you had been forecibly relocated what members of your family would you then have had to
support?

Had you heard of any relocated persons being discriminated against? ... ; refused

Yes ; being insulted? .Y€8__; being attacked? ...Xes.; being shot at? .. ¥es..; being
persecuted? .Y€S__; whose homes had been burned? ..Y¢ When and where had these
incidents taken place? Not certain

What were the names of the persons who had been mistreated and state what it was that
Not certain

happened to them.

Did you send that letter because you believed that if you sent for the forms and renounced
your citizenship that you would be interned by the Justice Department and could stay in
camp until the war ended and then be safely relocated when public hostility to Japanese

died down? .I€8 . Who told you that this ecould be done?
An advisers group of the HOSHIDAN

Did any members of your family fear or tell you that you would be foreibly relocated and
run the risk of danger from hostile Caucasians unless you sent that letter and renounced

your citizenship and, if so, what members of your family told you this?
I‘I.Ao

Were any members of your family in fear of what might happen to you or to them if you

did not send such a letter and, if so, state of what or of whom they were in fear?

N.A,
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Did you fear that if you did not send the letter and request forms upon which to renounce

your citizenship that you would be separated from alien members of your family?
N.A,

and, if so, from what alien members? ...

or from citizen members? , and if so, from what citizen members of your family?

Name the members of your family who told you that you would be separated from your
N.A.

family if you did not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship?

Name other persons, not members of your family, who told you that you would be separated
from your family if you did not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship and state
whether they were Issei, Kibei or Nisei N.A,

What members of your family were in the Tule Lake Center at the time you sent that letter

to the Justice Department? N.A.

What members of your family pressured, threatened or persuaded you to send that letter?
N.A‘

What did they fear or say to you to get you to send that letter?
N.A.

Did your husband? wife? father? .. . INOTHORT o brothers? ...
sisters? . in-laws? ... force you to send a letter requesting forms on which to
renounce your citizenship so that you wouldn’t be separated from them by being forced to
relocate while they remained in camp or finally were deported to Japan? If such person
or persons were citizens of the U. S. state whether they already had sent for forms upon

which to renounce their citizenship? ... NsAs

What did such person or persons say to you to force you to renounce your citizenship?
N.A.

Did you send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce citizenship because you
heard that alien members of your family who had requested repatriation to Japan would
have to stay in the Center until they could be exchanged or removed to Japan and that you
ultimately would have to be relocated in this country and thus be separated from them
unless you applied for renunciation? ... Who told you this might happen if you didn’t
renounce your citizenship? N.A.

What alien members of your family already had asked for repatriation to Japan at the
time you sent that letter? .4,
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Were the alien members of your family on the WRA free list and eligible to relocate at
the time you sent your letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon which to
renounce your citizenship? ... NsA.

Did you fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and didn’t renounce your citizenship
that you, nevertheless, would be deported to Japan along with the alien members of your
family because you had asked for repatriation to J apan and that you would get in trouble

with the Japanese government when you arrived there? ... Name the persons who told
you this. N.4,

Did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship because you

believed your life was being frittered away uselessly in camp? Tes ; that you feared that

; which might take many

or that if the war did not come to an end you would be kept in camp

Yes . or that when and if the war ended the Government might deport you to

Yes and that you wanted to get away from camp life? .Yes . and feared that

you had to go or be sent somewhere or anywhere, even to Japan, just so long as you were
made a free man? ....1€S,

Did you send a letter to the Justice Department asking for the forms upon which to
renounce because you were afraid that the Government had no use for you and didn’t care
what happened to you and that you were afraid this was true because it had deprived you
of citizenship rights by evacuating you and putting you into a WRA Center behind barbed
wires and then had armed troops guard you? .Yes..; and then didn’t give you any

; and you were scared
by the soldiers moving in and driving the residents around and searching their quarters?
Yes; and no protection was given against such things as the murder of Mr. Hitomi, the
knifing of Mr. Terasawa and others, and the clubbing and beatings of many persons; and
that the Government didn’t punish the soldier who shot Mr. Okamoto?
that you thought these things clearly meant the Government had no use for you and didn’t
want to give you any protection and that, to avoid all this violence and trouble, you had to
renounce citizenship to insure your own safety?..¥€S_ and the safety of your wife?
husband? ... , father? ._Yes  mother? .Yes

sisters? , other members of your family?

.................. )

Did you decide to send the letter asking for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship
because you feared that you were going to be deported to Japan because you had given
““No”” answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or had refused to answer those questions and
were considered disloyal to the U. S. and that it was necessary for you to send that letter
to the Justice Department and renounce your citizenship otherwise you would get in

trouble when you arrived in Japan? .. X8 . What trouble did you think you would get

into in Japan if you didn’t renounce U. S. citizenship? "0ole member of my family & myself
would be on the subject of Jap Court and may get severe punishments

State what members of your family told you this. N.A.
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Name the Issei, Kibei and Nisei who told you this and state in what Blocks they lived at

Tule Lake and the name of any organizations to which they belonged?
lived in Block 72, an adviser to the HOSHIDAN & SEINENDAN.

Did you fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your citizenship that you
eventually might be drafted into our armed foreces while you were in the Center and thus
be separated from your citizen wife? ... .; citizen children? ; or other citizen
members of your family? ... who were in the Center? ... Did you fear that if you
didn’t send for the forms and renounce citizenship that you eventually would be relocated

and then might be drafted into our armed forces and then be separated from your wife?

, your children? ... , other family members? ........... who would have relocated with

yvou? Who told you these things might happen if you didn’t renounce your citizenship?
N.A.

Did you fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your citizenship that you
eventually might be drafted into the army while you were in the Center or after you were
foreibly relocated which would result in separating you from alien members of your family
who were to be sent to Japan because they had asked for repatriation to Japan and
wanted to go there? ... or because they believed they would be deported to Japan after
the war ended because they feared the Government intended to deport all alien Japanese to

Japand Lilul ‘Who told you this would happen?
N.A.

Did your alien parents fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your
citizenship that you eventually might be drafted into the army and be separated from
them when they were sent to Japan? ... Did they tell you this? ... Name other
persons who told you this.

N..Ao

Did your parents fear that if you served in the armed forces that they would get in
trouble with the Japanese Government when they arrived in Japan? ... Did they tell

yon thisf._ . . . Name other persons who told you this.
II.A.

Did any person or persons or group of persons tell you or spread the rumor that if you
didn’t send for the form and renounce your citizenship you would get into trouble with
the Japanese government when you were deported to Japan? Name the persons
who told you these things, the Blocks where they lived and the organizations to which they

George Yoshinaga, Block 72, an active member of the SETINENDAN.

Name the other members of your family whom you believed would get in trouble there if

you didn’t renounce your citizenship and state whether they were in the Center with you.
N.A.

If any members of your family were in Japan at the time, did you fear that they might be
punished by the Japanese government if it learned that you did not renounce your U. S.

citizenship? ...Yes. What members of your family there did you fear might get in such
trouble? _Father, Mother, Brother and Sisters.
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With what agents of Japan did you think you or your family members would get in trouble
if you did not renounce your citizenship?..

; other agencies? )

What did you fear would happen to you or to them? T be on a subject of the Jap
court and would get a severe punishments

Did you believe that you or they would be put in prison? ; internment eamp? ... :

be forced to work as slave laborers? . e . ; or what else did you fear would happen to you

or to them?

If anyone else told you to send that letter, name the persons who did and state whether

they were Issei, Kibei or Nisei and the Blocks in which they lived or where they worked at
Tule Lake Center. .G¢0rge Yoshinaga, Block 72, Kibei, truckiriver.

S. Bingo, Block 74, Issei, Kitchen worker.

What did they tell you would happen to you if you didn’t send that letter?
My name will be on a 'black-list' and notify to the Jap government.

Were those persons leaders or members of any of the organizations in Tule Lake, and, if so,
The HOSHIDAN. The HOKOKU SEINENDAN.

state the names of the organizations.

Who were the Issei leaders of those organizations? Not certain.

The Kibei leaderat I do not remembered who was a headman of the HQ of the SETINENDAN,
The Nisei leaders? ..George Yoshinaga.

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan moved away to
Santa Fe before you sent in that letter?

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan removed to
Santa Fe before you sent in that letter? ..No_ . If so, what groups?

(Note. The first group of 70 Issei and citizens belonging to the Hokoku Seinen Dan were
taken away to Santa Fe on December 27, 1944. Renunciation hearings started on January
11, 1945. The next group of 144 citizens and 27 aliens, including 50 officers of the Hokoku
Seinen Dan, was taken to Santa Fe on January 26, 1945. The next group of about 650
members of the Hokoku Seinen Dan was removed to Bismarck on February 11, 1945. The
next group of 125 persons was taken to Santa Fe on March 12, 1945. About June, 1945,
some 400 more were removed to Santa Fe and in July, 1945, a few more were taken to
Bismarck. Therefore, if you had your hearing after these groups had been removed vou
were not in fear of them at that time.) '

Were you in fear that if you didn’t send for the forms and renounce your citizenship that
your name would be put on the organization’s black-list and would be reported to the
Japanese government and you would get in trouble with the Japanese government when

you arrived in Japan? .. Y88 . Who told you this would happen? George Yoshinaga,
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Were you in

fear of the members of any of the organizations Of what organizations were you
in fear? The HOKOKU SETNEN DAN , The HOSHI DAN & The Manzaner Group

H
of what leaders were you in fear? For the HOSHI DAN - AKASHI, OBATA, BINGO, OHNO.
For the SEINEN DAN - G.Yoshinaga, INOUE, UCHIDA & others.

of what members were you in fear? .. }rs Sasaki & Mr, Saika - they were, I am not
certain but one of the members of Manzaner Group.

Why were you in fear? Becansed they were always keeping thier eyes on me; especially

after I was elected as a Block-manager for Block 72,

.
’

Were any other members of your family in fear of them or their organizations and, if so,

state the names of your family members who were in fear of them? N.4.

If you or any member of your family or any friends were attacked by any of the leaders
or members of any of the pressure groups for not doing what the pressure group leaders

wanted state the names of the persons who were attacked, the time and place where attacked
and by whom. Though I heard such a case butI do not remembered all

particulars.

Were you in fear of being attacked and beaten up by them or their organizations if you did
not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship? ..X€8.. Had any of them threatened

If so, what were their names and state what they said to you
Names are as stated in para 92 in this sheet, They said to me that just

do what they wantedj otherwise, I had to risk my life staying in the camp.

Were you in fear that members of your family might be attacked and physically harmed if

you did not send that letter, and, if so, state what members of your family you feared might
N.A.

be harmed by them.

Were you in fear that if you did not send that letter that you might be harmed by the leaders
or members of any of the following organizations, namely: Hoshi Dan? .. 18 ; Seinen Dan?

Yes Joshi Dan?....... ; Manzanar gang? . Y82 _; the Poston gang? ... ; Jerome gang?

; San Pedro gang? ... ; the Tiger gang? ... ; the Black Dragon Society gang?
; or other gangs? ... ; or strong arm groups? ... Name the leaders, members,

groups or gangs of which you were in fear
Hoshi Dan, Seinen Dan & Manzanar gang.

While you were in Tule were you ever called an inu? ... yaspyl iy ; a stooge? ... .

)

an informer? ... ; @ White Jap? ... Aattraiftor et ; kokuzoku? ... ; or other
b b ’

names? ... , for not doing what the organizations wanted you to do? ... What names
were you called? White Jap, traitor & Kokuzoku.

Were you in fear of being called such names? ..X83_. What were the names of the persons

who called you such names? Names are not certain, but, a several youngmen, they
were likely the member of the Seinen Dan, who came to my office, Block-manager's

offer of leaving my position as a Block-manager.
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How many persons called on you or spoke to you and asked you if you had sent for the forms

upon which to renounce your citizenship? ... What were their names? ...,
A many times. OBATA, AKASHI, BINGO, CHNO, UCHIDA, YOSHINAGA and others.

Did anyone check up on your mail in the block manager’s office to see whether or not you had
sent such a letter or had received an answering letter from the Justice Department? ...

State the names of the persons who checked up on you in this manner.
No one could check the mail becaused I was the Block-manager.

Did anyone take down your name as being a person who did not send such a form or was
late in sending for such a form? ... State the names of the persons who did this and
whether they were Issei, Kibei or Nisei: ...Not. certain

Were any members of your family or friends attacked, beaten or threatened for not sending

for the forms? Name the persons who were attacked or beaten
I do not remembered

Were you ostracized for not sending in such a letter promptly? ... Did friends shun or

avoid you or refuse to talk to you because you had not sent for the forms? ... ‘Was your
spouse? .. ; your children? ... ; or other members of your family? ... mistreated

for your delay in sending such a letter? What mistreatment did they suffer and
from whom? 1 do not remembered

While you were in a WRA Center did the U. S. Immigration Service commence any deporta-
tion proceeding against your husband? ... ; wife? ... vifathep e X ; mother? ... G
for a violation of any immigration law? Did you fear that the member of your family against
whom deportation proceedings had been started would be deported from the U. S. to Japan
because such person was illegally in the U. S.? oo Did you fear separation from such
person and did the fear that such person would be deported cause you to apply for the forms
upon which to renounce citizenship so that you would not be separated from such person?

Re: RENUNCIATION HEARING

Name the members of your family besides you who had a hearing on an application for

renunciation of citizenship. Husband? ... sownfe b i L . brothers? ... .. . sisters?

; other family members? N.4,

Did you have your hearing before the renunciation of your wife? ... ; husband? ... :
brothers? ; or sisters? ... ... Did you have it on the same day as your wife? ... -
husband? ... On what date did you have your renunciation hearing?

Was your hearing officer a man? .Yeg...; a woman? ... Did you have an interpreter at
your hearing? Did you need one? ..No

At your renunciation hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you wanted to renounce
because you were loyal to Japan, or that you wanted Japan to win the war, or that you were
against the U. S. or make other statements indicating loyalty to Japan or disloyalty to the
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B SN iriud, ‘What, in substance, did you tell the hearing officer as reasons why you wanted

to renounce your citizenship?
for remumciation. If my memory is correct, T was told by the hearing officer
“tosipn-the documenty without ¢ie stioning ms"

Name the persons who coached you and told you what you were to say at your hearing to

make certain your renunciation would be approved and state whether they were Issei, Kibei

or Nisei. ... Mr OBATA & Akashi, both were Issei, gave me some idea for answering
at the hearing but I could not cared of it.

Did you fear to tell the hearing officer the real reasons why you were renouncing your citizen-

Yes . What did you think would happen if you had told him the real reasons?
If T told him the'iruth my remmnciation would be cancelled, and then, soon

or later, the matter should be known by the HOSHI DAN and SEINEN DAN.

Did you fear that if you did and your renunciation was not accepted that you would get in
trouble with your parents? ; other family members? ... ; who were in Tule Lake?
; or in some other internment camp? Were

you then in fear of being foreibly relocated in a dangerous area? (If your hearing
took place after the January 29, 1945, announcement were you still in fear of eventual reloca-
tion in a hostile area? ) Were you then in fear of being drafted? ...Y€8. Were you
then in fear of separation from members of your family? ... . From what members?

Were they on the WRA ““free list’’ and eligible for relocation at the time? .......... Had they
applied for relocation before the day you had your renunciation hearing? ... Were they
still expecting to be sent to Japan? ... Did they still want to go to Japan? ... Had
they cancelled their applications to go to Japan?

Were you in fear that if your renunciation was not accepted you would be in danger of harm
from any of the leaders or members of any of the pressure groups at the time you had your
renunciation hearing? Had the leaders or members been removed to other camps

at the time you had your hearing? _.No_ . Were some leaders and members still in camp

at the time you had your hearing? ... What were the names of those who were still in
camp?.....Complete members. of bhoth HOSHI DAN & SEINEN DAN,

: in your Block? . Both HOSHI DAN & SETNEN DAN Branches.

Were you in fear of them? Tes

Were you removed from Tule Lake Center to Bismarck? ... ; Santa Fe? ..185 ;
; with what groups: the 1st, 2nd, 3rd or 4th groups?
What members of your family remained at Tule Lake? NoA,

What other members of your family were removed from Tule Lake Center to Bismarck?
N.A.

to Santa Fe?
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Were they removed from Tule Lake before you had your renunciation hearing?
Nefle

after you had your hearing at Tule Lake?
State when and where you were re-united with them?. Ns2s

Name the other members of your family who renounced citizenship. ...
N.A.

Did you give such answers because other members of your family had been removed from
Tule Lake and you thought that by so doing you would be re-united with them? Heds

you fear that those family members would be deported to Japan and that if you gave such
answers you would be re-united with them and be deported along with them? ..........

If you applied for relocation in the U. S. after your renunciation state when you did so.

eils

Re: MITIGATION HEARING

Did you have a ‘“mitigation hearing’’ between December, 1945, and April, 19467

what Center did you have this hearing? . Was your hearing
officer a man? ... ; a woman? At this hearing did you tell the hearing officer that
you were loyal to Japan or disloyal to the U. S. or words to such an effect? ........ If you
did, state why you did this. N4,

Were the members of your family with you in the same Center at the time of this
hearing? ... From what members of your family were you then separated?

Where were those members of your family at the time of your mitigation hearing?
N.A.

Were they then on the WRA or Justice Department free list and eligible for relocation?
Had they relocated? ... ety MR T e ) o RSB 11 W

Did you then fear that members of your family in other camps were to be deported to
Japan? Was it because of your fear that those members were to be deported to Japan

that you gave such answers to the mitigation hearing officer so that you would be allowed to
rejoin those members and not be separated any longer from them?
What members of your family, if any, were removed to other internment camps after

e : = \Eo ®
you had your renunciation hearing? N.A

When and where were you re-united with them? ... No4.




21

Novenber 1945

When were you released from detention? e I What camp

were you when you were released from detention? Sante. Fe . If any

of your family members were sent to Japan, state when they sailed for Japan? ...
From what port did they sail? ‘What other members

of the family accompanied them to Japan?

When were you placed on the ‘‘free list’’? If your parents,
spouse or other family members were placed on the free list, state when they were placed on

that list and the camp from which they relocated. ...

G s Ao
P ﬂ
Signature

204 Kubo Cho, Onomichi Shi

Hiroshima Ken, Japan

Telephone Number




(An additional statement to the question No 29)

I could not remembered whether or not I gave a negative answer to both
Questions No 27 and 28 as I changed my mind for three or four times, as
follows;

1). Pirstly I gave a "Strict Neutrality" answers to both two Questionms,
and was accepted.

2). A few days later I was called up by an Army representative and was
told that my answers would not be accepted, then I had tried all my
best explaining them that the answers I stated was very truely one
as I would not have any intention to against any of countries during
the war time and asked them to allow me to stand neuter. They said to
me that I could stand neuter regardless of whether or not I gave
a positives answers to those Questions., Then I gawe a positive
answers to both No 27 and No 28 Questions on the spot.

Of those days, I attended a discusion meeting regarding to the Amy
Questionnaire, sponsered by the Gila Young Men & Womens' Association,
(or Gila DANJO SEINEN DAN) of No 1 Camp Gila, Arizona. The W.R.A.
officials who attended this meeting were revealed the following
observations:

a). Those who gave a positive answers to the questions would be
drafted soon or later, or be freed from the camp.

D). Those who gave a negative answers to the questions would possibly
be sent to another place because he already lost his citizenship
of the U.S. at the moment he gave a negative answers to the
questions, The WRA official also revealed his opinin that there is
mch possibility that the US govermment would take some actions on
those who considered as desloyal to the US.

¢c). Those who gave a negative answers should apply for repatriation
becanse they are completely a alien.

d). Repatriation can not be applied by the person who gave a positive
answers to the gquestions,

L). After this meeting ended, the following were adopted by the committee of
the Association:=-
a). Whole members of the Assoc should give a negative answers to both
two questions, then apply for reptriation immediately.

‘og. Repatriation forms will be submitted through the Association

¢). The names who applied for repatriation would be sent to Japarnese
government through a person who was said a one of Japanese diplo-
matic body living in Gila camp and waiting for an Exchange ship.

As a result of this meeting I changed my mind again and I gawve a
negative answer to one of them, I could not remember whether it was

the Question No 27 or No 28, in order to obtain .a form for repatriation,
otherwise, I have no rights to apply for it,.

(An additional statement to the question No 32)

If I did'nt give 'No' answer to one of the two questions I have to
serve the army during the war time, and whole menber of my family in
Japan would get in trouble with the Japanese government.,

George Yemashiro, president of the Gila Young Men & Womens' Association
and other executive members; namely Kaya, Chogyoji and Fukuoka, used to
came around to my place and they told me that they are checking the
people who acting against the Jap government by a request of a certain
resident in the cemp who is said to be one of Japanese govermment dip-
lometic body and waiting for an exchange ship. If any one on his blaclk-
list would get sever punishment by the Jap government not only himself
but also all the member of his family.




(in additional statement to the gquestion No. 55)

I once was told by George Yoshinaga and M., Shimazaki, a room mates and
a powerfll members of the Ward 7 Branch of the SEINEN Dan, that I was elected
as an‘officer for a certain department of the Branch offics but I refused to
accept it becanse I was holding a position as a blockmanager of Block 72.

Since my refusal of thier offer I was called by them as "White Jap" ete but
I never attended its meeting, though they often asked me to appear the meeting
as officer of the branch office.

I was threaten by the active members of the SEINEN DAN, names not known, who
likely sent by its Headquarters, to persuade me to resign from my post as
blockmanager and to accept thier offer to become an officer of the branch office.
I of course refused it too.. Since then I ought to realized the fact that a
many of thier eyes have been keeping on my activities and I was in fear of
attacking by them, so I determind myself to cut my hair short, wearing a insignia
with a purpose of camouflaging thier eyes.

I knew I was the one of wvery suspicious man by the eyes of the SEINEN DAN,
becanse I did not resign from a managers post dispite of thier strong warnings,
which is the position they think of a spy to the W.R.A. and I never attend to
morning exercise by obtaining a medical certificate.

ok

because I could not see any reasons to be considered as an active member of
the SEINEN DAN, however, the fact that I was in 'the same room with G.Yoshinaga,
leading member of the branch, was the only reason that I can think of it, or
my name as an officer could be still left in the record of the branch office
documents though I never accepted nor participate any activities of the SEIINEN
DAN.

I was very surprised when I was sent to Santa Fe Camp by the first group
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PERSONAL QUEST IQONNAIRE

Please read this questicnnaire carefully and then print, type or write

your angwers legibly to the followiz}z‘ quest lons,

Y20 Zé/(ﬁ/'

Male? v/ Female? ____ Maiden Name? __

Birth place‘? W M Birth date? ,@/‘42 4

Have you ever renounced Japaneso Nat ionallt y? &_Whon?

a, State your full name,

Where?

Have you ever visitéd Japan? .;%w When? LLR 2 — /934
tt h 1‘ J When? 4gggﬁfﬁw 4 4 7
Did you attend school in Japan? .%m, hen? —— e

How long? Mg What Schools? MM&%@

Period of attendance:

PRELIMINARY QUEST IONS
Where did you live before evacuat ion? Mﬁ! “%U"/\a

S s ]

What was your occupation before evacuation? ,,..Q;ﬁzz% . O peortld o

Who, if anyone, was wholly or partially dependent upon you for support

at the time you were evacuated? __ 2 fert -

L PR L

e mowes » oste

Where did your father and mother reside at the time of evacuation? e

Wero they aliens? / /%07.
What were their ages at the time of evacuation? ; : 798 Qy

Were your parents both evacuated also2-2Z¢) Was either of them in ill
health while In a WRA Center? ____ Was either of them hospitalized

while in a WRA Center? If so, when and in what Center?

e T

Were you or any other membgRg of your family in ill hoalth while in a
WRA Center? 2¢¢ If so, state who was, and, if hos pitalized, state

when, for what period of time, and in what Centor?

When and whore were you married? /é 4 % (W hk
. VL
What 1s the name of your gpouse? éwd
Sl . i




Is your spouse (wife ew—busberdl-a U. S, citizen, a renunciant or an

allen? _

—. S s = = ek pe—p - ey e
s e T s

What are the names, birthdates and birthplaces of your children?
— (e ¥falt
/7

What members of your family were evacuated with you? (Wife, husband,

‘children, father, mother, brothers, sisters, father-in-law, mother=in=

law) ,/fdiflé¢‘ézzad '

State what members of your family (spouse, mother, father, brothers,

sisters, children, fat -in-law or mother=-in=-law) were in Japan during

the war? M M /! Pt VW

4

Who of them, if any, were U, S, citizens? //QEP1:ZZQI

Did-any of them serve in the Japanese armed forces? -

State what members, if any, of your spouse's family (your father=in-law,
mother-in-law, sisters-in-law, brothers=in-law, or gtop-children) were in

luring the war and whether thry are U. S. citizens om Japanese

Did you suffer any property losses by reason of your ovacuatiog}igga;{Did
you file a claim to recover losses you suffered by reason of your

evacuat lon? __ . For what amount 4id you file your claim? What
¥mount did you receive in settlement of your clalms? _ Did your

parents suffer any property losses by reason of evacuation? T oL 80 S

for what amount did they file claimg?® What amount did they

receive in settlement of their claims?

State whether your husband, father or any other member of your family was
Interned as an alien enemy after the outbreak of war in an Alien Enemy

Internment Camp, for removal to Japan, and, if 80, In what camp?

R el 2 2 5 P SRR
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When and where were you reunited with such member of your family?

==
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13 A i . LS | | il o 3 08 3 s il
Did you apply for "short term", "seasonal work", "indefinite leave",

"student's leave" or "rslocation" while you were in a WRA Center?égiégggé_a

. e

When did you make that-epplication?

In what camp were y 6 "that time?

Were you denied leave? ____ By whom?

What reasons were given to you for denying your applicat ion?

Did you go out for seasonal work or on any leave clearance%@ﬁ&§541Wh§n and

where did you go and for what period of time?

What type of work did you do?

e

Did you experience any discrimination or persecution while on leave?

If so, state the experience.

A e ety ey g

ke e e o I I

To what Center did you return?

n

State the names of any members of your famlly or any of your friends who

went out on leave or relocation and experienced discriminat ion or perse-

When did the occurences take place? KZZ%&A) Year 1422243M0nth
Where did they happen? ¢

From whom or what sources did you hear or learn those things?
,<ﬁ£4~n,¢4;44/u¢45/’¢q¢252"41,¢444;L. A;Lbf%j4 é;Acéz ;41£;L<3ﬁ=
7 AL
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Did you know or learn of any other p 15 on leave having been subjected

to digcriminat ion or persecut ion? W were their names?

What happened to them?

= -

When and where did the occurrences take place?

Re: APPLICATIONS FOR REPATRIATION

To what Aakerjlbly Center were you evacuated? MW&,

o %»7 (94D
To what WRA Center were you next transferred? ‘gk& Z(MM M/WQ
Dby Gl -~ Beliln ro4 3

In what Block 4did :you live there? M M 44&_204 72\
With whom did you share quarters there? r@: M«_ MJ-“AA/

In what éa}g were you when you applled for repatrlat o0 GO depans e

oy b i

Did you make that application before or after you answered the Army

Quest ionnaire in February or March, 19439 M

T 7
When did you make that application? @/ﬂbﬁix/z (9LR
. S 4

Did you personally make that application? A«% If not, who dida?"

Dld any of the following persons also make applicat ions for repatriation
to Japan? TYour husband? ___ Wife? el Tabhen® oo s mokber ..

Prothers? . - slsters ? Lo father-in-law? - mother-in-law?
brothers=-in-law? ____ sisters-in-law? ____ When and in what Center were

they at the time they did this?

Did they then fear that the government intended to deport all aliens to
Japan? _ s that 1t intended to deport all Kibei to Japen? __ 3 that
1t intended to deport all Nisei to Japan? :

Did you make more than one application for repatriation to Japan, and, if
8o, when and where did you do so? _&ﬂ Z3 194 atHhe W Pepey)

g[(:«/? /ﬂ/u)(f@, 2.2
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get you to apply for rer

ey DS RIS SIPMRE NS S s S S s e s S e

family, pressure you into applying

?ggggzﬁ Name the persons who did and state

Nisei, and blocks where they lived.

A’VéthA'AZﬁiéz CZZQﬂ740374uuA45ﬂ '

e e/

i

f those persons were leaders or members of any organization state the
name of the organizat ion. é"“}/{ C@M WW?

e s

to get you to ,apply for repghriatlon?

M

feve would lur}ew 9a)0u‘iii ou &5g
{ W Q//;M/ é/ﬁx M

— = e S ]

did not apply for repatrlation you would be

separated from your husbend? wife? children?—"_ mother?

] =

father? .~ Drothers? sisters? or other persons?

= s =y _- et

1

Were those persons irn the same Center with you at the time you applied for
repatriation? If orfy of them were ;, state who was not and where

-~

they were at the time.

e T e T e e e =S T e o

e ~ = o e T - = S — g S

Did you believe that if you didn't apply for rer atriation to Japan that
sooner or later you would be forced to relocate in the U, S.?fgzgz; in an

area hostile to Japan>se.kéagj that you might be drafted into the armed

forces :_%ggzy that you would be separated from allen members of your

family you believed would be deported to. Japan? "~ grig,

Did you make application for repatriation because you believed the Govern-
ment had no use for you and intended to deport you to Japan because you
were Kibel? ;3 of that it intended to deport you to Japan because your
parents were there? & 4{, or because your parents were aliens here and

that it intended to deport them on an exchange ship to Japan simply because

they were aliens?™____; and that they wanted you to be with them and not
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In what WRA Center were you at the time you answered the Army Question-

naire containing Questions Nosg, 27 and 28°% wéﬂgé g

In what Block were you living in that Center at that time? 4é¥>’

Was the Questionnaire you answered the Army Quest ionnaire or the WRA

e
Application for Leave Clearance, if you remember? /2%762? (Lt er——

Did you give a negative answer to Question.No, 277%2. ﬁéf; to Quest ion No,

. e =

28?f%2§;. Did you refuse to answer Question No, o?? ; Question No,

28%
Did any members of your family pressure you or threaten you into giving a

"No" answer to Questions Nos, 27 and 28 or into refusing to answer those

questioni;uﬂéié9 Vho were the family members who did this?

g

What did they say to you to get you to answer "No" to those questions or

to refuse to answer those questionsg?

Did you give a "No" answer to those questions or refuse to answer them

bacause your father?(%mothelﬂ?(% brothers €ty slsters? gl or

other family members? ___ were in Japan at the time and you feared the
might get in trouble with the Japanese government iIf you were silling to
serve in the U. S. Army?% ,;5227 r were willling to swear allegiance to the
ééég Rid you gilve "No" answers to those questions or refuse to
answer them because your father? ____ mother? ____ brothers?
or other family members? _____ were in the U. 8. but you believed they
were to be deported to Japan and that they would get in trouble with the
Japanese Government when they arrived there if you had answered "Yes" to
those questions? ____ . Did you give a "No" answer to those questions
because you believed that eventually you would be deported to Japan and
you feared that if you gave a "Yes" answer to those questions you would
get 1In trouble with the Japanese Government when you arrived In Japan?

:,?4/,/‘

Did any other persons pressure or threaten you into giving "No" answers




i

to those questions or into refusing to answer those questions?dgaz;a hat

are the names of those persons and state whether they were Issel, Kibel,

or Nisei and the Blocks in which they lived and the organization, if any,

of which they were ‘meube Pco,d;§2%&§4%é§é;é£. ’/- :

e e

What did thoé% persons say to you to get you to give "No" answers to

those questions or to refuse to answer those questions? - ,£h4u1_..
Wéz ,)%LCZZQJu’ "

Y ' Ef EZT A1 e i i6.edn No answ?rg Eg
; t% ,[%%) :i “ ‘péiu£z;§ZZL44
thos Liilej ions u didn't refuse to answer them? s

What did you fear’wou d happen to other me’gers of your family if you

didn't give "No" answers to those questions or you did not refuse to

answer them? JM MM onos ¢ Frela  ce %«4«/

Did you reiuse to answer those questions becguse you already had applied

for repatriation to Jgpan and you understood that 1f you already had
applled for repatriation you did not have to answer those quest lons? 4242
Did you give "No" answers to those guestions or refuse to answer them
because you resented being evacuated, confied to a WRA Center and treated
like an alien?

Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to answer them
because you already had applied for repatriation and believed that if you
gave "Yes" answers your application for repatriation would be cancelled

and you ‘might be drafted into the armed forces?

== S

; or be forcibly re=-
located in the U, S, while the war still was golng on? . Did you
fear that if you were to be drafted you would be discriminated against
and be persecuted in the armed forces? __ . Did you fear that if you
were drafted? _____ or relocated? ___ you would be permanently separated
from mmbers of your family who were to be repatriasted to Japan?

from what family members did you fear to be separated?

Did anyone else, not a member of your family, pressure or threaten you

° ° .8 At 1 - ° .
into giving "No" answers to those questlon§£4zz¢2¢@2§t_w@re their names

and state whether they were Isseil, Kibel or Nisel and the names of the
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organizations to which they belonged?

e L

= —y e T e e

Did you fear that If you'gave " Y answers to those questions that you
wou ld have to stay.in camp and be separated from your parents or other

family members who were to be depérted to Japan because they were allens
or racause they had asked to be sent to Japan and you did not want to be
separated from them?dgggﬁiﬁnmmrwhat parent or family members did you fear

(/
gseparat ion?

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions you eventu-

ally would have t o relocate in this country during the war and would be

in danger from hostile Caucasians? %;Q;1 g

Who told you that this might happen to you? G/ 2 Le tss
/r74;4?$4§£2=m===

- S

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions that it
would mean you might be drafted into military service where you would be
discriminated against or be persecuted by fellow soldiers or that you
might be used as cannon fodder just because you had Japanese ancestry?_
Who told you that this might happen to you? St

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes

-

" enswers to those questions that you

might be attacked and harmed by groups of Issei, Kibel or Nigel in camp?
UL Neme the group and its leaders or members from whom you feared this

danger ?

ey ——

2 > e | f it . ik o ° N
Did you give "No  answers to those questions as a protest against the mig=-

treatment of evacuation and confinement to a camp&?;éﬁg..

Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend or anyone else at=
tacked by members of the pressure groups in that Center for showing loyal-

ty to the U, 8.9 ~ZOor opposit ion to the pressure groups? __ OrEon

St L i

g N=ro N0 . o i o RS A2
gilving "Yes answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 28% If so, state the

e

names of the persons who were attack

o == £ ———

When were they attacked? ______ By whom were they attacked?

B e e o e S e S R S e




Did you then belisve that Iif wou gave a "N angwer to those quest ions
that vou would be allowed-to stay Iin the Center for the duration of the
war and in this way you and your family would be free from danger of per=

ol RPN Iy - 5 B 2y T 3 S g ] i -
SGGUU LON J (PR AP RS B | L 4 y Wil RACAS L o TR ‘Mrﬁ;—;’

ettt e
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Did you give "No" answers to'Question Nos, 27 and 28 or refuse to answer
had been Inform by the WRA or understood
applied for repatriation to Japan that you

0 S—

ations? ———= o told you this?

,.Jm:zz 2wz ok JES. 3 - A Nuw
you ever give = "VYes" answer tc Quest No. 27?7 2t to Question
No, 289(6%44; Did you change your answer to Question No, 27 or 28 to "No"
at any tims? f&z, Did you change your answer to Questions Nos, 27 and 28
to "No" or refuse to give "Yes" answers to those questions by July 31
1943 because you knew that "No" answers or a refusal to answer those
quest ions would meen that you would be sent to Tule Lake or be segregated

there with allen members of your family from whom you did not want %to be

é‘v_—’f—x e oo rm Klmcﬁz Spenraeapepengey

recelves _é‘ﬁm Diga you ever re-

you when you rece

-

gification before you answered the Army

onnaire In February or March of 1943 while you were in a WRA Center
v T

5

~ AT T e 4. Nt hae 1 ©
Yooed va afterward’

= S ,,, o s T Ty — ==

While you were in any WRA Cenbe 1d you slgn a petition addressed to the

Attorney General, the Presiden he Army, the WRA or other governmental
or agent stating in substance that you were freed and returned
you would fight for the U and give your life if neces-

4

countrys £€¢. In what Center were you at the time? __

e ey DS S ]

Did you sign such ¢ petition

before you answered the  Army Quest lonnaire

in February or- Mar¢ 1943 or afberward? _  Did you sign'such a
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petition before you made a request for repatriation to Japan or afterward?

When were your parents first placed on the free list or notified

L

that they could be relocated? _

e L e e S e S L = Tt

Were any other members of your family placed on the WRA free list for re=-
locat ion purposes and, if so, who were they and when were they placed on

the free list?

e

Would you have been willing to swear unqualified allegiance to the U, 8,
while you were in a WRA Center if the Government had allowed you to re=

turn to your home as a free citizenz4%2£ZxWould you have been willing to
return to your home alone@42§§£; without the cit izen members of your

family likewise being freed from detentionzﬂgggg; without the alien

members of your family also being freed? égzﬁﬁjmmuld you have been willw=

ing-only If the Government would assure you that you would be relocated
safe from harm from Cauoasians?dgaggg that the citlzen members of your
family would be relocated safe from hanm?eégggf,and that the alien members
of your famlly willing to return to their homes during the war if the
Government would allow them? __ _ Were they willing to be relocated else=
where in the U. S,7 _ .

Did you keep in touch with your Local Draft Board while you were in a WRA
Center?/QLééZ Did you report to your Draft Board after you were released

from camp? 2¢¢? To what Draft Board? _ ) s

When? After your release from camp did you volunteer

for service in our armed forces? _.Dl1ld you ever served armed

torega? o o 2% 8 R AT 3 Into what bra nch?

.5 what period of time dld you serve? AR

g

where did 1€ T o 5 what was your social

number? ) . Have you recelived an Honorable discharge

e ot

from such, service? _ 5 what is the date of that Discharge? _

— ey

Rg 2 VMEVBERSHIP IN ORGANIZAT IONS

50,  (a) Did you ever sign a petition for resegregation (Sailkakuri Seigan)

while in Tule Lake? ,//4%427- When? mm§é;2§é;2g§:ﬂi:;ttmmx¢==

¢ g

(b) Were you at any time a member of (1) Sokoku Kenkyukai?

o o o e TS s S

(2) Sokoku Kenkyt| Seinen Dan? -/Qo,  (3) sokuji Kikoku Hoshi Dan?




é%ﬂ» ?-) Hokoku Seinen Dan? ﬁ@g! (5) Hokoku Joshi Seinen

Dgni? : s

ety Ere——

When did you hecome a member Q‘;wa ar W&J
Tiog Loy = S SN V2P

How long=<wére Aou a member? _

e

When did you stop being a member?

In what Block digd

What was the name

whom did you
or¥anizat ions were active in that Block? MMM

was the full name of the: Orﬂ‘anluat ion you omed?%é&@m

were the names é ra of the orgnnlzat lons in your Block?

Were your father? W o OM %é«s:mters‘?

or father-in-law? __ or mother=-in-law? ____ a member of any organiza-

tion? ____ Did they persuade you to become a member ? What did they

say to you to persuade you to become a member? __

What other members of your family were members of the Hoshi Dan?

Jo_ahi. Dan?

- Seinen Dan?

WWhy dld they become members?

10 %
i1 4% i L1

In what Blocks were they 11

What are the names of the persons other than members of your family who
persuaded or threatened you into becoming a member and state whether such

persons were Issei, Kibel or Nisel and state the Blocks in which they
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RN

What office, if any, did you hold in the organization?

U ietion idf ey, Phad Goveopirencilid
What duties did you }Jelforrw d@,« M QWWM

How did you become cm officof”

When did you become an of¢1cer9 >414£0 éba4kgﬁﬂa¢'1cﬁ-

From whom did you receive notice that you were an officer? O
M&&/ il 2o ~ / fr Ll waty Go AZES
What d%ﬁ%u per orr‘n s'a%ww 0’7”‘27%7

3 7
As a member did you attend any morning calisthenic exeroisesézaﬂpproxi-

mately how often did you join in the calisthenics?

e =

Dld you attend any of the organization's lectures°@%éggﬁﬁpproximately how

many lectures did you attend6§u£‘¢“mg4§2Was the nature of those lectures?

Did you participate in any of their marching demonstrat lonspZ& .If so,

-how many?

Did you attend any oiher meetings of the organization}q@&g§JMmane—and how

often? _

Did you tell anyone you wanted to drop member hlp” 2t Bliate the names

of the persons you told you wanted to drop membelunlpa f7/€;qujgggpoL4é7_

e = = oot

Did anybody warn you that you could not withdraw from mmnbership?égzgz.

Who gave you such a warning? (State their names, blocks, where they lived

and whether Issel, Kibel or Nisel

What did they tell you would happen if you dropped your membership or

tried to drop membership? 2;2?6jz
/€2x>élo/ (7L&L¢£4 /4@14499 /6LL‘A1/Lék4/y

—aror——re—r

Had you learned that anyone who tried to drop membership had been
threatened or had been beaten up for trying to drop membership? J%QE?WMD,

° : e A i
if you know, was, beaten for trying Egﬁqultﬁ;ZZQngézs—/éH;Lf ~r744;.21;3f7

4 g ~ Wl ey c
Wha t oup gt you hear was responsible for beating ‘persons who tried -to

withdraw from membership? ?7

e e e




Weré you iIn fear that you would be
you tried to-drop membership?-

e

N e ]

Were you told that 1if you tried to drop membership the organization
would report this matter to the apanese Government and that when you
were deported to Japan you would get in trouble with the Japanese Govern-

& ~

Did you fear that if you dropped membership you would get in trouble with

the Japanese Government when you were deported to Japan? ,ggg
Were you told that if you tried to drop membership the organization lead-

ers would report this matter to the Japanese Government and that your

alien pa\rents would get in trouble with the Japanese Government wion "E'I:uey -
/&(ﬁézm 1 g
.o Japan for not being able to control your act ions‘?(;%;who

told you this? (State the names, blocks where they lived and whether

— d e
Issel, Kibeil or Nisel) Mgé/g%é (e B2t
u; 4

S e = = ]

peyrs = - o

fear that 1f you dropped membership your parents who were to be

Japan would get in trouble there?‘ﬁg?.

have your hair cut short or shaved? ?gz When? gg( Who

you wear any insignia of the organization and,

= |

22 JQ,MM?MQRMW RS

If you or any member of your family was placed in the "Stockade" at Tule

Leke Center state who was, for what period of time and for what reason

was the nature of your employment and where did you work while you

in Tule Lake? t// . «-;Zg R

o = AT S e s Pty - =

What were your working hours? gé_i%were you working while you were a

b

member of any organization at Tule? In what block? Zé What were

Py . '
the names of some of your fellow workers? WM =

N
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Were you, or any member of your famil

-
y 9

membarg

- )
/&L.
ISR & e O

any of the pressure groups

ttacked by any

we;Z€? Who was? i
8724 i

Wheni? - 7 __ By whom?

Y 4 A 4

B e e s
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ENQU! NTKHFIA

what Block

Wi

(a)
(b)

In did you live in the Tul

When did you .send

Department askirg upon whic

WH *Hv

vere yOL«

g L

On December 19
return of Japanese to

Newe;l Star, the Tule

WRA camps would be closed in gbout on
may have been posted in the block man
and other places in camp.

re yoa g

Q,AA.MM

In what Centser

ab

Number 3

(Vote. 1944, CGeneral
u@St Coast .

Leke Center news

I‘»

Therefore, 11" you
Justice DUNBW“Jf ment bef
which to renounce citizes:
the camp being closed
area without funds: or (¢
a . letter between December
ly were in fear of being !
29, 1945, the WRA announced
that u?;e¢1,\U0l11L not be
lett er January 29,
ed to belleve you not
located in a hostile agre
go unless you convince
1945, announcement
that no one would

.JC

a
38 1n
Tule
et
Ju
ac
fun

anr

arry
194?

o L ¢

2
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ullb

v 16 hout

Sk ll u’n

a

were

&
)

L

that

be

Did you send that

that

ment before

would be closed within

<A

21, 1944 and

send

Did you

1 -
Lake Cen

Tule

If you sent in your

nouncement of

open and that

2 ! .1 ! ivh e - AP R BARE SR A £
did not send thet letter requesting forms

cit izenship reason of fear that

by

and that you and your family

you should answer the

D,

following

(a) From what source did vou lﬂJ:ﬁ about

d”d

would be forced to

PON WHICH

J:u:u._ J.P

e ‘Lake Center? _

S e = X T

General or the Justice

h to renounce your CLthen hip?

Pratt removed the ban on the
On D@COLJ@T €l, 1944, the
announced that all the
Notices of this also
offie the mess halls

88,

N
£

General
f

ttorDO“
- du,,
were
to relocate
could go.,
nd January 29,
such circums
Lake would

oy
1.4.(—
E

notc

or the
for forms upon
then in fear of
in a hostile
If you sent such
1d”u, you probab=
tnm ces. On January
be kept open and
locat ions., If you sent your
stice Department will be inclin-
tual fe of being forcibly re=
ds or a home to which you could
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Fecpge

1945: 1In the Newell Star? ____; from a notice on a bulletin board? _

(T =

from the Block Manager? 3 from what other

[ e T — s e e e T

(b) Dida you believe the announcement? . If not, state why you did

o = ]

not belisve the announcement.

L e i e S oo o T T T S U R e S S

Ty opeac-

vz e S o

(c) Did anyone tell you that you could not trust that announcement?
If so, state who told you not to rely on that announcement and what they

said to you to make you disbelieve it, SRIRI o

If the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all Centers would be clog=
ed within a year and the announcement of January 29, 1945, that Tule Lake
Center would be kept open and there would not be any forcible relocat ions
did not have anything to do with your decision to renounce your citizen-
ship did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms
upon which to renounce citizenship because of any of the following fears,
namely: (a) fear of separation from alien members of your family, such
as father? __  mother? __  father-in-law? _ . weTher=in=-law? ___ _ gtep
=father? ___ step-mother? __ _ othe aliand?énnn: who you. belleved were
to be deported to Japsn? ____ (b) £ear of being separated from citizen
-
mmbers of your family, such as your wife? ____ husband? ____ children?

==y

who you belleved would have to relocate in the U, S.? ~ or who

[ e

you belleved would be deported to Japan? (¢) fear of being deported

yourself because you had gilven negat ive answers to Questions Nos. 27 or

£8 and were considered a disloyal person?~ézgjc.(d) fear of treat or harm
to yoursclf2/44g3rpr your: wife® - - . lop husband? .. .~ or childron‘?uw&m
or mother? _ _ or father? ___ or other members? of your family from

=xmanas

gangs in the Center? _ ; (e) fear of mistreatment or physical harm from

the Government or its agents? £z2&

Did the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all the WRA Centers would
be closed within a year cause you to send that-Tetter to the Justice Do=
partment? __ Did you read that announcement in the Newell Star? ey

from a bulletin board? ;5 or learn about it from the Block Manager?

3 or from other persons~and, if so, name the pe rsons ¢

e e s o o o IS e T T




Did you .gend the:letter to the 'Justice Department asking for

AL

which to renounce your citizenship becsause you feared that Dece?ber “Xy

: i f RS S U A
1944, snnouncement méant that you and the citizen members of your family
/ g

would be forcibly relocated without money, a home or job in/%n area where

people were hostile to Japanese while the war still was gyénf on unless

A4
e

you renounced your citizenship? Were you afraid of/éeing relocated
/

because you had heard that jobs were scarce? S thaé emplyers did not

(=2 e = ?

wish to hire Japanese gnd that you might not get woyk to support yourself

o

and your family? 5 that the public was e to Japanese and you

feared mob violence? _+ If you had been forg¢/lbly relocated what mem-

bers of your family would you then have had t¢/ support?
¥

i

Py e et e g W P

et e e e e e e e

e Ay i e a1 e A ey X )

Had you heard of any relocated persons bejhg discriminated agalnst e, g
i ; , g5
refused work? _ . .3 being insulted? mmn%@ being attacked? ____ 3 being

- 360 °/'l RS A5 y MR, e IEG: 3
shot at? ;. being persgecuteds _..___ 3y whose homes had been burned?
When. and where had these incidents: thken place?

e —— =

e —wmt S

T e e ey g

— = oy ey

/

What were the names of per sofs who had been mistreated and state what
it was that happened to them, i

B e e e T e S e N D O
/

e e

e e e

R e e e e e s e e Y

e

SR e e e e e T — = =0T

Did you send that letter bgcause you believed that if you sent for the

forms and renounced your/citizenship that you would be interned by the

stlce Department and/could stay.in camp unt il the war ended snd then be

safely relocated whew public hostility to Japanese died down? o Who

told you that this could be done?

B e e o o T S s P S

=g

e e s S

A e e e Ny

Did any members/ of your family fear or tell you that you would be forcibly

relocated and/run the risk of danger from hostile Caucasians unless you

gent that lgtter and renounced your cibtizenship an if so, what members

of your fgmily told you this?

e e e T

(a) Statle what members of your family were in fear of what might happen to
you oy to them if you 4id not send such a letter and, if so, state of

what/or of whom they were in Zoari i
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(b) In what Blocks were sach of your family members living at that time?

Y

Dld you fear that if you did not send the letter and request formg upon

which to renounce your citizenship that you would be separatdd from ali=-
en members of your family? 3 1, 1f so, from what allén members?

e Coriin
, 7

or from citizen members? ,» and 1f so, from what c¢Atizen members of

your family? _

Name the members of your family who told you @hat you would be separated

from your family If you did not send for the/forms and renounce your
/
clt izenship? §

= =L S Lo ee ey

Name other persons, not members of your family, who told you that you
would be separated from your family/if you did not send for the forms and
renounce your citlizenship and stafe whether they were Issei, Kibeil or

Nisel and the Blocks where they/lived.

= oy

What members of your family/(wife, husband, children, father, mother,
brother, slsters, father=inelaw, mother=in-law) were in the Tule Lake

Center at the time you gent that letter to the Justice Department ?

(= s e

nembers of /your family

that letter?

did they fear or sa y to you to get you to send that letter?

Did your husband? ____ wife? ____ father? ___ mother? _ brothers?

sisters? . in-=laws? ____ force you to send a letter requesting
forms on which to renounce your citizenship so that you wouldn't be
separated from them by being forced to relocate while they remained in

camp or finally were deported to Japan? If such person or persons were




citizens of the U. S. state whethe 3 forms upon

o

which to renounce.t helr citize A O Y
What did such perdor. or persons | to you to force you to punce your

citizenship?

e =

(- = =y o ey = S

/, -
Did you send that letter requesting forms upon which/to renounce citizen=
ghip because you hesrd that alien members of youg/?amily who had regquest=

ed repatriation to Japan would have to stay in fhe Center until they
2

could be exchanged or removed to Japan and qﬂét you ultimately would have
t0 be relocated in this country and thus yé separated from them unless

/

.

you applied for rentnciation? N%me the persons who told you this

might happen if you didn't renounce yéur cit izenship and state whether

, ) ¥ i . i . W < .
-they were Isseil, Kibei or Niseil ang@ the Blocks where they lived

= = e 2y e e e e s = 2 e - = - > s — == =

What alien menmbers of your fawlily already had asked for repatriation to

[ - s

Japen at the time you sent ¥hat letter?

=g = eygeey e b o = = P

Were the alien members Af your family on the WRA free list and ellgible
to relocate at the tiMme you sent your letter to the Justice Department

asking for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship?

you 4idn't send for the forms and didn't renounce
citizenghip that you, nevertheless, would be deported to Japan along
the alien members of your family because you had asked for repatria=-
to dapan and that you would get in trouble with the Japanese govern=
ment when &ou arrived there? _ Name the persons who told you this and

state whether they were Issel, Kibel, Nisel, the Blocks where they lived

and the organizat ions o]

(&)

— s T R ot e T s S e

e e s s s e s T = pecTEaY =
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yO ~ to apply for forms upon which to6 renounceé your citizenship
because you belleved your 1life was being frittered away uselessly in camp?
4@ that you feared that you might be confined to camp until the war
ake many years? m;zgz or that if the war dld not
& kept in camp forovor?ﬁigjg or that when and




1f the war ended the Government might deport you &
you want ed to get away from camp life?({gé%/and feared that had to go

or be sent somewhere or anywhere, even to Japan, jus
made g free manz{gégg.
Did you send'a letter to the Justice D
hat the Government had
no use for_ypp and didn't care what happened to you and that you were
afraid this was frue because it had deprived you of cit izenship rights
by evacuating you and putting you into a WRA Center behind barbed wires
and then had armed troops guard yOU?45261Z and then didn't give you any p

and violence of gangs?

and you were scared by the soldiers moving in and driving the re-

:féag; and becaguge the police didn't glve any protection to the residents?
E ’

sidents around and searching their quartersz4%2§,§ and no protection was
given agalnst such things as the murder of Mr, Hitomi, the knifing of Mr,
Terasawa and others, and the ¢clubbing and beatings of many persons; and
that the Government didn't punish the soldier who shot Mr, Okamoto?.;Zgg
and that you thought these things ¢clearly meant the Government had no use
for you and didn't want to give you any protection and that, to avoid all
this violence and'trouble, you had to renounce citizenship to insure your
own safety&%&ﬁﬁ{and the safety of ar wife? husband? ____, fathem

mother? s children? rothers slsters? _ s Other

members of your family? _

Did you decide tb send the letter asking for forms upon which to renounce
your citlizenship becsuse you feared that you were going to be deported to
Japan-because you had given "No" answers to Questions Nos., 27 and 28 op
had refused to answer those questions and were congidered digloyal to the
U. S. and that it was necessary. f y end that letter to the Justice
Department and renounce your citizen hiy herwise you would get in
trouble when you ved .in Jdpanif;égz, What trouble did you think you

would get into in Japan if you dldn't renounce U

e’ hn *_a ~ I T - 7 )
State what members of your family told you this'ﬁgég;f4é;' :

=

: % 7 -
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Name the Issei, Kibel and Nisei who told you this and state in what Blocksg




they lived at Tule Lake and the nam f any organizations to which they

— S T s S e e s

forms and renounce your

fted into our armed foxcos

eparated from your q&tizen wife?
or other citizen members of ypur family?
. Did you fear that if ydu didn't send

/

and renounce citizenship that you eventuglly would be re=-
/

T

located and then might be drafted into our armed forges and then be sepas
xated fromyeur wife? .. 'y childrenf? . .y other Aamily members?

who would have relocated with you? Who told yuu Tl se things might happen

renounce your citlizenship?

A= v P

= = o T

if x~~ didn't send for/the forms and renounce your citie
zenship that you eventually might bs drafted into the army while you were
after you were fqrcibly relocated which would result in
g you .from allen members of your famlily who were to be sent to
had asgked for repatriation to Japan and wanted to go
believed they would be deported to Japan after
feared the Government iIntended to deport all

Who told you this would happen?

ey e e e e et

allen parents fear that if you didn't send for the forms and

renounce your ¢glitlzenship that you eventually might be drafted into the

my and be /Separated from them when they were sent to Japan? i Did

they tell/you this? ____ Name other persons who told you this,
Did your parents fear that if you served in the armed forces that they
wodld get in trouble with the Japanese Government when they srrived in

you this? Name other persons who told

gy S

rersons or group of persons tall you or gpread the

didn't gsend for the form

you would get i trouble with the Japaness government when you were
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ported to Japan?¢ 5&%/ Name the persons who told you these things,
Blocks where they lived and the organizations to which they belonged,

whether they were Issel, Kibeil or

e S = /._ e ARSI e o s

o

Name the other members of your family whom you believed would get Iin
trouble there if you didn't renounce your citizenship and state whether

they were in the Center with y A/%&)12/€_,,4

e

If any members of your family were in Japan abt the time, did you fear
that they might be punished by the Japanese government 1f 1t learned that

you did noct renounce your U. S. citizenship?é%22¢. What members of your

family there did you fear might get in such trouble?
M : W - %o
r 4 o 7 T e

With‘whdéra‘ents of Japan did you think you or your family members would
£ Y. i J

Sa—

e

got. in trouble if you did not renounce your citlzenship?

e - e S = = S mm o

(The Japanese police? _«—; Kempeitail? — Army? 3 Ngighborhood

s =5 U

Associat ions?—" ; other agencies?

What :did you fear would happen to you or to them? ___
P 5 7 ;
Did you: believe that you or they would be put in prison? —": internment

camp?

=y

e e =g

be forced to work as slave laborers? ___ 3 or what else did

you .fear would happen to you or to them?

If anyone else told you to send that letter, name the persons who did and

a

state whether they were Issei, Kibel or Nisel and the Blocks in which

they lived or where they worked at Tule Lake Center, and state the names

of the organizations of which they were members, %g_x; W

What did they tell you would happen to you if you didn't send that letter?

V44

Were:those persons leaders or members of any of the organizations in Tule

Lake,. and, if so, state the names of the organizations,
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Who were ths

S e s T ot e

W

Wers groups of

ed away to Santa Fe

groups?

S

id

T T et e e T s T

anizations and in what Blocks 4

e o T

lived?

L

s PTG f= et
here they

SRR s T e e

i

Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan

or? )*27 If so, what

e e i —— T e

Were any groups of leaders or

F
F

moved to Santa Fe before you

¢

.groups?

— R o

of the hl Dan

Dan or Hos

that lett@r%?ziéz

members Seinen

If so, what

e e e R e S S A T A e S e

ATl m O 13 o o A o SR
(Note., The first group of 70

Seinen Dan were taken away to

Carted on January

including

YA
M)J

£ro

they were Issel,

The ranizat

org

Ll e —— SR e

be

—

and cit izens to the Hokoku

Santa Fe on December 27, 1944, ‘Renunciast-
2

11, 1945 The next group of 144 citizens

of the Hokoku Seinen Dan, was taken

The next group of about 650 members of

February 1ll, 1945, The

on. About

March 12, 1945,

Fe in July, 1945, a

1 N0,

had your hearing after

of them at that time,)

AN
sena ror

the forms

and renounce your

. be-put on the organization's black-~list
|

anese government and you would get in

7 % Who

e

rnment when arrived

you

o e

L CE e )

Kibei Blocks where they then

1on

B T o e

R S e T e T

B e e e e e T s
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0L &sny o the brgan

cny of the organizat lona’

uJLs J_OD

where they

= — =

Why were you in faar?

your fdmily in fear of them or their

the names of your family members

e = o e et e S

If you or any member of your family or any friends were
of the leaders or members of any of the pressure groups for not doing

what the pressure giroup leaders wanted state the names of the persons

were attacked, the t ime and place where atbtacked and by whom, WQN

e e e e e o e e e o e e e

attacked and beaten up by them or

the forms and renounce your

%_ﬁqd any of t hen threatened you? 4@ If so, what
and state wha 18y sald to you, %?( e

Were you in fear thst members * you X night b Etacksd and o

SN e

cally harmed if you 8id not send th 3tter, and, if so, stabe what
members of your family you feared might be harmed by them,

-

e e e e e e e S T R e e e Qe oy e gy

Were you in fear that if you dit 5 gend that letter that
harmed by the leaders or members of eny of the following c
namely: Hoshl Dan? _ «~5~ Seinen Dan? __—7% Joshi Dan? 5 -Manzanar

te3 Ghe Poston gang? e il Jerome gang? 5 Sen Pedro gang?

] il o2 g

the T ger gang? _ L~73 The Black Dragon Society gang? or other

< y
=g gusy
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strong arm groups? Name the leaders, members,

of which you were Iin fear.

While you were in Tuls were you ever called an inu@,giégj oS- o) SR

a stooge? ; an-informer? ____; =a White Jap? ____; a Gtraibtor? ___3

kokuzoku? ; or other names? ____, for not dolng what the organizge

= =]

t ions wanted you to do? _____ What names were jyou Called?‘gigédu'e¢luggﬁ,

el Ko

e 2t nn’ 2er _/, JH :;*@ﬁ;L;éizg{i v, A

Were you in fear of being called suCh names? . What were the names
of the persons who called you such names? ;&¢4u4154n,—€14ddzcéeé4-f“

oLk fp 2Pl s r»u,&ua, 4

How many persons called on you or upOJe to you and asked you if you had

were thelr names

JMMWZA&

Did anyone, check up on your mall in the block manager's office

- whether or not you had sent:' such a letter or had received an answer ing

letter from the Justlce Department ? égzgk, State the names of the persons
~.~;—/ » ’

S s e s

who checked up on-yous in, this manner,

e T e P e e e T T R T R R e S T S £ T B e S T e 5= e )

Did anyone t ake down your name as beilng a person who did not send such a
form or was late in sending for such a fornﬁ<§zgz., State the names of
the persons who did this and whether they were Issel, Kibel or Nisei:
et Vet o+ Ko awsts Hode

Were any members of your family or friends attacked, beaten or tafeatened

e e )

for not sending for the forms?éiéggu Name the persons who were attacked

or vesten. 2Ll At poeapell cu Mwé’é@@‘%f

=pmemey e 2

Were ybu ostracized for ﬁd% gend ing in such a letter Dromntl Jégg) Did
friends shun Of avoid you or refuse to talk to you bhecause you had not
sept for tﬁé‘form§2?212 o - Was yolr spousef? - . 3 {your children? . ‘s

or other membeﬁgfof your family? ____ mistreated for your delay in sending

such a letter? __ What mistreatment did they suffer and from whom?

S e
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While you were in a WRA Center d4id the U., S. Immigration Service commernce
any deportation proceeding against your husband? __ wife? _
father? ___ _; mother? ___ , for violation of any immigration law? Did
you fear that the member of your family against whom deportat ion proceed-
ings had been started would be deported from the U. 8. to Japan because
such person was illegally in the U. 8.2 . Did you fear separation
firom éuch person and did the fear that such person would be deported
cause you to apply for the forms upon which to renounce citizenship so
that you would not be separated from such peraont. «lw =y

Re: RENUNC IATION HEARING
Name the mebers of your family besides you who had a hearing on an appli-

cation for renuncistion of citizenship, Husband? AR~ e ) ol - by

brothers? _ gsisters? ; obher family mémbers?

o

ARt nopeds

Did you have your hearing before the renunciation of your wife? CaEs

L

husband ? 5 Dbrothérs? _Or gilgters? Did you have 1t on the

= o= =

your renunciation hearing?=4125 ey 2, At Wb Eotl Mokt Mg of T icer a
hé»' aringe
aring did -you tell the heariég officer that you
*

wented to renounce because you were loyal to Japan, or that you wanted

same day as your wife? _ 3 husband? . On what date did you have

Japan to win the war, or that you were against the U, S. or make other
statements indicating loyalty to Japan or disloyalty to the U. S.7 2

What , In substance, did you tell the hearing officer as reasons why you

wanted to renounce -your citizenship?

Neme the persons who coached you and told you what you were to say ab

your hearing to make certain your renunciation would be approved and state

7 o

whether they were Issei, Kibel or Nisel and the blocks where they lived.
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By o = = e e e T e e S s S =

hearing officer tell you th: rou did not have to renounce your
in order to go to Japan? Did you bellieve this? bt

e e

hearing off lce‘“%jl- ’(W AT T el e e

DiAd yourfear to 't . %h aring officer the real resa sofis why you were

renounc ing your citizenship? What did you think would happen if

vou had told him . T 68a80]

o

Did you fear that if you did and your renunciation was not accepted that

you would get in trouble with your parents? ____; other family members?

who were in Tule Lake? ____; or in some other internment camp?

Were you then in fear of being forcibly relocated in

angerous area? ____ (If your hearing took place after the January 29
1945, announcement were you still in fear of eventual relocatlion in a
host ile area?cnzmz) Were you then in fear of being drafted? ____ Were
you in fear of separatlon from members of your family?

)
member s ? : : /’éfihﬂ“

e TR R e R A ) R T R G e A e e

Were they in Tule Lake? 5 or in what other Center?

=

P T

“Were they on the WRA "free list" and eligible for relocation at the time?

. Had they applied for relocation before the.dey you had your re=

nunc iat lon hearing? "Were they still expecting to be soent to Japan?

Had they cancelled

In fear that if you en at lon was not accepted you would be
anger of harm from any of the leaders or members of a ny of t he pre-
gsure groups at the tlime you Imd your renunciation hearing? __ . Had

the lsaders or members been removed to other camps at the time you had

your hearing? f Were some leaders and membsrs still in camp at the

==

o

t ime you had your hearing? ___ What were the names of those who were

Sl ,ﬁ»;,.xn:m.ﬂ/mfr,,—_miwt A

in your Block?

Were you Iin fear of them? __ .

Wo?e you removed from Tule Lake Center to Bilsmarck? __ ; Santa Fogqg;g!j
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When? mﬂgéﬁ%&&kgﬁélgé%iéiﬁﬁgf with what groups: the lst, 2nd, 3rd or

4th groups? /@2;Q . . What members of your family remained at

Tule Lake? > 22242

What other members of your family were removed from Tule Lake Center to

Bismarck? /42¢47\~41“

T = = e

to Santa Fe? When?

Were they removed from Tule Lake before you had your renunciation hear-

ing? _____ or after you had your hearing at Tule Lake? _ .

o FE e

State when and where you were re-united with them. ___

Name the other members of your family who renounced citlizenship, ____

Did you give such answers because other members of your family had been
removed from Tule Lake and you thought that by so doing you would be re-
united with them?-Zz¢/. Did you fear that those famlly members would be
deported to Jépan and that 1f you gave such angwers you would be re-united
with them and be deported along with them? ____ .

(a) If you applied for relocation in the U. S. after your renuncilation
J SR

state when you 4id so.,z:l%???iwz~_ — .

B - g A T

(b) Did vou write a letter to the Attorney General or Justice Department

asking to cancel your renumcilation? ____  When? ~ In what

Cent er were you living when you wrote that letter? __

i 4”’\.&,# —

Re: MITIGATION HEARING

1 n

Did you have a "mit igation hearing’ between December, 1945, and April,

1946}2—@,(__@;; what Center did you have this hearing? __

. Was your hearing officer a man? 5 a woman? ___
At this hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you were loyal %o
Japan or disloyal to the U. S. or words to such an effect? If you

did, state why you did this.
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What members of your family were with you in the same Center at the time

of this hearing pouse, father, mother, children, brothers, siglers,
/

father

P GBS b S LAk e

B e e o e T i s o S e SE R e S

From what members of your fam: vere you then separghbed? /

¢ SR ARl - Dl R

et ey ) P Ay ey e s

Where were those members of your family at
L/ v

/
(= R el e e el e e - e ey e TS e e e . . e . rrxr./v.#.xn B e i S e e e e — P SRR = =L e )
Vere they then on the WRA or Justice Department free list and eligilble

for relocat ion? . Had they relocated? / If they had, state when.,

e ] e )

e
= o s

"

Did you then fear that members of your family in other camps were to be

deported to Japan? . Was 1t because Of your fear that those members

were to be deported to Japan that you gave such answers to the mitigation
hearing officer so that you would be/allowed to rejoin those members and

not be separated any longer from tHem? _

»

What members of

your family, 1f Any, were removed Ho other internment

camps after y had your renungiation hearing?

ey ¢ P S S

e e e e e
bl ! W= L s - 7YY n 3t 3 with +1 m?
When and w were yoa re~united with them?

e e = T T S S

e e e e e e o e s e =

e e S T e o SRR T S e

e e e e R e e B e R e e

When were you released from detentiong

e - e e e ]

what camp we¥e you were released from detention? .

Ere e pmep oyt e =)

If any of your family members wer: 1t to Japan, state when they sailled

for Jar { _ _ From what port

e

did they saill? « What other members of

I eSS e e e e s

your family went to Japan?

e e o ST T

were you placed on
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e wr 5 vl1aceand 1 1 ah
your parents, spouse or other ' 'family members were placed on the free llst,

gtate when they were placed on that Jlist and 'the camp from which they

relocated.

State the name of any person in your family who has served or 1s serving

in the Armed Forces of the United States and the branch of sgervice,

nggzjkyggri_u .

(=

o L PGSl AN O e S

State the relation ship of such person to you

State the Serial Number of such person _

SRS

Has such person received an Honorable Discharge?

If, before evacuat ion, or while you were in an Assembly Center or War Re=~
locat ion Center any person (Caucasian or other) threatened, warned or
advised you against returning to your home or against relocat ing, state

the names of such persons auld sneir sddresses? _

e e e T o R T S B S T e s e e

e e e T = = g e e ey ey LT S S

When were such threats, warnings or advice made or given to you?

Year ___ Month _

°
] = o T o T T

Where were you at the time?

TRyt — e e gy ey gy ey

Were the threats, warnings or advice verbal or in letters?

SRS

Were any members of your family threatened, warned or advised against

leaving camp, relocating their homesg?

e e T o e e S

Name the famlly membe: 1l specify thelir relationship to you.

o e s s

e e g ey o S ]

Have you ever served in the armed f A s ey Ty R R o

In what branch? T 7 Period of service

e e e — ) = gt P = o

Where did you serve? Date you receiv-

Bt - = g e e s ce o cagnengenny

ed an Honorable Digcharge? Serlal No.

e S e i e R e e e e o (oo S o S e e e

What other members of your family ather, children, brothers or sisters)

served In the armed forces of the U. S.

I S e e e e e e T o

=t

i e LS S T e gy = =g e omn o S SER e B e B e D RS R )

State their names, relationship and branch of the armed forces in which

they served or are serving,

R R e S e T o

e o e e e =E=—A
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e e
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vote?

o

4

you told

e e R R R R R T A T B T N (e e R R e R (e TR e e

you to .vote?

resses of the neight

e

e e e e R A R A R S T e e

lidn't vote?

rer-mearre e e

S

f you didn't vote?

*
ok

apan

ch

to it 19t , i
nally registered your name in Kosekl

you go

1 ' an in 1946 because

o

ErE

in a Kosekil s s
, . a ration card?

were not registered you would
civen an gddress to

7€ iat e

ld not




recelve mail? or ‘would have been

ey ey = =

punished, and, If so, by whom? __ and why?

= e e = = e sy Ry =gy

flere you registered because of fear that if you weren't you would suffer
in some form? such as would not be lssued a ration card?

s e e

or for what other reasons?

x—p—a—oro: e e e e T e e T oy

Have you, since returning to Japan iIn 1946 been naturalized as a Japanese

citizen? R _ -1 50, what steps did you take to become natu~-

ralized as a Japanese citizen?

e e = T sanTE e = gy

Have you, since returning to Japan been employed by the Japasnese Governs

ment or any agency of the Japanese Government? _ _ _24mA L

v
If so, name the office by which you were employed and the dates of your

employment ?

e o e e e e e e e s

Have you worked for the United States Government or Allied mili

orities while in Japan? __ %%;ész For what service?

In what capacity? _ tLes LA Where did you perform your

oS P s S

work? - : _ Dates of your employment? _

o TR S s S Tee o

e G e ) AT

What 1s your occupation now? _cesee . »2. Where?

What property do you own im Japan? ___

A VU N

Nature of property?

e = o s S e

Est imated valuation of that property?

=13

Name ' your nes 5ive. in the Uk . and sddress,

M L) é%af/ P e AR

e S =

To what address do you 1Atand to return to

7 H___. :

(Attach all the documents dﬂd letters you have relating To your
tion of U. S. citizenship.)
Have you filed an agpplication Jo 8. Congyl in Japan for

Passport? _ 4 When did you file it?

o - e

(Attach a copy of the affidavit you filed with-the U, S. Consul which

explalned why you renounced U, S, citizenship,)




passport?

e e = e e p e e e e e e gt g e B e

(Attach the letter of refusal the U. S. Consul sent to you.)

Have you reglstered as on aliens in Japan? _

Where? __

Dat 6. - ng_wf_,.ézz;g;z.m

6§; 5@ignature

Telephone Number
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YUZO TAKATI

b. May 1, 1919

2 (4)

b,

1922 1938 Taken as a ehild.

~

-

b -5‘ /9%51:’ P()n‘a: Zoi/yi ‘\7"{; v"ov:.;fc»ﬁ*. 7}

5
Kubo Primary School, Onomichi-shi April 1926 March 1932

Onomichi Business Commercial School April 1932 March 1936

6o June 1943 & 1945

Lyiph my sister,Toshiyes—
I was evacuated from Ventura}ﬁcalifornia. (ﬁy parents

were in Japan and also brother and two 31ste2§)/%/J
,ig/gw-!la»r'((, Y ..u:/’z? el e /fcr*' .Y &y n
ot Dp ki) -

At Gila Camp, I made request for repatriation. I

thought that as a/Kibei, with my parents in Japan, I was
—29eilile~ considered a deportable person, just like an

alien. There WiWillaNy- were all kinds of rumors going

around about /the {sENNESMgSss. hardships that might occur

if request were not made. Some men NN, s2id

that there may be a relocation—imsesssiss. ond tlis meant
«~ME" Jiscrimination and hostility because of the way

the public felt aboutsjje persons of our race, ‘\\
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At Gila Camp, George Yamashiro, Kibei,
Mr. Ivluruyama, Kibei, /7,?, Chogyoji/, Kibei and
Kaya"‘,' Kibei, told me I should make the request. George
Yamashiro was president of Gila Seinen Dan. They said
that if I did not sign "no™ to the army questi’ons and willie
make request for repatriatioh to Japan that';/x: Wéuld be

.




-

a report uESmee made which would P get in the hands
of Japanese agents, that I would be on a black list and my

parents in Japan would be punished by the authorities.

As I remember about the application, wSumesy,
an application was made up and submitted through the Gila

Young Men and Women's Association,

When later request was made, Mr., S, Akashi, Issei,
Adviser of the Hoshi Dan group&, said the request
should be s made, and if I did not do so, I would get
in trouble with the Japanese /Government - not only myself
but members of my family. I was afraid that this would
happen and since I felt I could not control the ultimate
deportation of myself, if the U.S. Government should decide

it was necessary, I was worried to cause my family great

punishment.




7 A) Yes,see-attached sheet

No

on attached sheet -

Because of the pressure and confusion of camp

life, it has been hardJ for me to remember about
an

P
the answers M I believed I changed my

answers a few times. At first I said - neutral and this
was accepted. Then a few days later I was called by an
Army representative and was told that my answers would not
be accepted and I tried to explain my difficulties. I

then gave "yes" answeirS ¥

There was some meeting about the questionnaire
and W.R.A., officials attended., It appeared that the persons
who gave "yes" answers would be drafted soon or be freed
from camp; & those who gave 1lll;negative answers would
be sent to another place becausefﬁﬂ}already lost status
and there might be some action taken against them;
and repatriation could not be made for persons who gave
positive answers.

Afterwards, the committee of the Gila Young Men &
Women's Association decided that its membeRs should give

negative answers and the forms would be submitted through

the Assnv and the qktwashould apply for repatriation. The

names*?» of such persons to be sent to the Japanese Governmet
\ @ Lrsa¢7

througyﬁsald to be waiting for an e xchange ship. .
. g
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A this meeting I changed my answers to one of ” to 1

"no" - otherwise I had no rights to form for repatriation.

I was worried that if I didn't g## £ive "no"
answer to one of the questions, \it woulq)_,.»’rr;ean army
service and my J parents in Japan woula get in .
trouble, George Yamashiro and others like Kayaf, Chogyoji
and Fukuoké‘used to come around to my place and they told
me that they were checking the persons R e
m and how they were conducting themselves and
there '“- would be a report made on a list for
a resident in camp who was waiting for an exchange ship

and the report wvi o ~h bl »’“"’“wij“ Bok €103 O Va1t arnd ol LK
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I was afraid of relocation and being sent s
somewhere to live where it would ‘be dangerous because
of the intense public bad feeling against persons of our
race. There were also rumors and talk about being drafted

which simply

meant being persecuted/in the armed forces.

I had registered for the draft at Ventura, Calif.,
in Oct. 1940 anq‘had 3-B classification; later at camp

I received a 4+C classification.
LS







8 A)

Type "X" down "No" column EXCEPT

Hokoku Seimén Dan See ,‘ZB)

Sokuji“Kikoku Hoshi Dar” See % 8(59
: —_£ . Sy e ,
”*%i TSepok Kfﬁ’k7¢\-«fﬁvﬂ&’\ﬁﬁﬁf I /
}

I do not have any clear recollection of the time
I was in pecause for one thing as to when I became a member,
it was K: Yoshinaga who put my name in. I lived in block
72 where thefte were a number of active dan leaders.,
There were leader§ such as Mr.;Kazuyuki Yoshinag;, Keijf

Obata, Mr. Okadd and others -/

There wer: several menjﬂho said things to make it look
4A» bad for me if I did Qgt Join - K. Yoshinaga, Sanae
Akashi, Issei, % blogﬁ 74, Saburo Bingo, Issei, block 734
Daizo Inouye, block 74.};“’; They said Mk I should join,
that I was not enough fépanese, and téose who do not join
will be put on a llst that Okashi had and he said my family
in Japan might be ky&led by the # kempei-tai

/
There were a @ lot/ of tough men in Ward 7 and I was afraid

of a violent reactfion if I did not go along with them.

(,(/ZZ’/ ‘p;.&/ \_Q : : m/&ZL f?d»«/éot v }é/ al Cb L‘[-’{}, l&r‘z&w:/
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Once I was told by George Yoshinaga and M. Shimazaki,
roommates and powerful members of the Ward 7 Branch of
the Seinen Dag}that I was elected as an officeffor a
certain department of the Branch office but 1 reFused to
accept it because I was holding a position as a block

=% manager of block 72,

Since my refusal of /their offcer I was called by

them as "White Jap" et¢., but I never atlended its
meeting, though they often asked me to appqgr;as of ficer -

I was approached by a few dan members, probably sent by

its headquarters, to persuade me to resign from my post as
block manager and;to accept their offer to become an officer
of the branch office. T refused. JaeSRRENRRe] rcalized
that they werejkeeping tab on my activities and I was afraid
of an attack ‘so I decided to cut my hair short,
I knew I was suspected in the eyes of the dan because I did

o

. 4"[":" » B .
not resign from ,manager's post which 4 was a position

they thought of as spy to the W.R.A. and I never attended
/4

J

morning exercises “By obtaining a medical certificated Z
I was very surprised when I was later sent to Santa Fe
because I could not see any reason to be considered as an
active'me%br of the Seinen Dan. However, the fact that I
was in the same room with G. Yoshinaga, leading member

of the branch, &4 may have had something to do with it,
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Uncertain

A

The influence and pressure of the dan leaders ard ZiAce

-gagt powerful %/ was too much to get Ml away
from altogether. - : :

a2 This wis s the case -duing. ‘ohroughoup"'/l;ny camp
life. (See answers to spmilewgmsgmis prior /g{iestions).

I believe it was Akashi and his group ﬁ’i!b that got my

name on a list for # getting form. /

There were all kinds of rumgfs going about, just
as when repatriation request was ﬁ;de. A group in the
dan talked about the dangers oupéide of camp for persons
of our race, that by getting gﬁé form and renouncing
it would mean staying safely'gin camp-m and
avoiding <@me any possible r‘ijsk of outside persecution.
There had been many incideﬁts of bad treatment by the
public against persons ofvl our ancestry winirohe

and such demonstrations/ showed that the public did not #r

want us in their S midst.

My fathertfmother, brother and sisters were in

Japan and it was @éummed into my head »E that

if I didn't act gﬁough like a Japanese in camp - repatriate,
renounce, etc.,f; that my family would suffer the consequences.
I had heard that because of my status, I had little chance
to remain in,this country, regardless of what I might do

and that I'illlIﬁD was deportable and when I arrived in Japan
my family}and myself would be the subjects of Japanese courts
and get severe punishment, imprisoned or executed, Mr,

Obata Qf‘block 72 and his follwers talked about the perils

/

in ee® ahead of me if I did not renounce.




Mr. George Yoshinaga, block 72, truckdriver, and Mr,

S. Bingo, block 74, kitchen worker said my name would be
on a list and notification would be made to the Japanese
Government. Mr., Akashi, Mr. Uchida and many others talked

in this same way,

I was scared of the power of the qﬁn leaders and the

7

of the Hokoku Seinen Dan, the Hoshi Dgn and the Manzanar

way they could make troublgj (Bee ansﬁer to Question 8)

Groupe. The men connected with thes%}groupsvvere always

—t

keeping their eyes on me, especiallf after I was elected

block manager for block 72. They Were man such as Mr.
g, / nie o

Akashi; Mr. Obata, Mr. Bingo, /7jff. Hdene dea

/ 4
Mr. Sasaki, abbmgionibess -/ :7»5%‘:::-: t_’)

Gk:;;e men said I s was to do as they wanted - otherwise
I had to risk my life staying Ain the camp. I heard
about others who ¢ had received rough treatment in camp
for disobeying dan instructions. I had been called White
Japan:’%raitor; and kokuzoku @ and I was afraid that with
so much suspicion of me that I could not hold up against
The kiR fanavtics‘;‘.

[

It was a difficult/blbck I lived in because of the
strong dan influence and propaganda. Mr. A}*Hamamoto
Kibei, block 72, came daily to the officéfénd checked who
renounced. Duriqg a meeting, three members fTDﬂ;Mﬁnzanar
came around sayingﬁ& did not at 8 attend and I was not
loyal to the cause; I was scared I would be beaten,

Yoshinaga and Inouye were judo experts.

L




I was called "Inu" by some Manzanar gang af I did not go
out § on exercises and failed to é/ttend the meeting,
A1l B of Yoshinaga's Sl* friends came to my il
barracks and asked me about reqﬁéncing. Mr, Obaté:

Issei,did some checking about And cadl™ snooping around ¢

and took down my name,

I saw no point in’ standing up to the numbers
against me. If I refused they would have found oul about

it and GEGEEesESEREEISeewevessssmmEl | would have

been in danger of any sudden fanatic movement against me.
And imsssrtuSSEEEEEREN. I toughty that it would do

no good anyway becaunse with my status the way it was

and parents and family in Japan, I believed the U.S.,
Government and théfpublicéyp viewed me and treated me

as an alien, a dq%ortable person at the convenience of
the Government %éents. My mind was filled with Wi
thoughts of danéer to myself, my parents and the

1liftle prospecﬁ I had in the future to live in safety.

‘\% / A P’ /A e 4/1/ &'(‘/ 'yi/c‘?w / leg ///ﬁ/ s, %”‘ ¢
Aua /‘“ 2N ¢ ol of / K 4,75 & 1)k, 795




9(0)

M y answer to Question 9 (A) covers period while

I was at Tule Lake - before being sent to Santa Fe,

— a2

9 D) g

I was intern¥®d and there was no hope of Wity drawing

/

application while in” internment camp .

ol

9 E) blank
9 F) Gland

10 (A)

I bel ieved e?gryone in internment camp was deportable
and it was better\to go to Japan me in % voluntary
way because M‘ of % it would appear

on wme record when we\arrived in Japan. This way I would

% not be taking risks gfimmesswseshesmissr being regarded

suspicously upon  arrival,
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